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MEMC is a global leader in the manufacture and 
sale of wafers and related products to the semi-
conductor and solar industries. Wafers are literally 

the foundation upon which virtually all of the world’s semi-
conductors and solar cells are built. Those products, in turn, 
are the building blocks for the $1 trillion electronics market 

(cell phones, computers, PDAs, CD/DVD players, satellite 
and automotive electronics, etc.) and the $18 billion solar cell/
module market (rooftop, solar farms, consumer lighting, etc.). 
MEMC has been a pioneer in the design and development of 
wafer technologies since 1959, and operates facilities in the 
U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific.

W H O  W E  A R E  A N D  W H A T  W E  D O

Wafers become semiconductors...which become the electronics we use every day.

Wafers also become solar cells...which generate the clean power of today and tomorrow.

We make the wafers.
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Even though MEMC has been a leader in the wafer in-
dustry for nearly 50 years, we were “reborn” in a sense 
in 2001-2002 with a new mission for the future. Over 

the subsequent five years, a period we refer to as Phase I of 
MEMC’s renewal, the company set records in every financial 
category and greatly improved its financial and technological 
foundation to put itself in position to take advantage of the 
significant growth opportunities ahead. The year 2007 marked 
the first year of Phase II, the five-year period during which we 
look to fully capitalize on our strong financial, technical and  
market positioning.

As we review what we accomplished in the first year of this 
Phase II plan, we are pleased with our achievements. Some of 
these achievements include:

•	 Growing	sales	by	25%	to	more	than	$1.9	billion.

•	 Growing	gross	profit	dollars	by	45%	and	expanding	gross	
margin	by	730	basis	points	to	more	than	52%	of	sales.

•	 Growing	operating	profit	by	52%	and	expanding	operating	
margin	by	799	basis	points	to	more	than	44%	of	sales.

•	 Growing	non-GAAP	EPS,	excluding	warrant	benefits,	by	more	
than	60%	to	$3.25	per	share	from	$1.99	a	year	earlier	(refer	to	
table	on	Page	59	for	non-GAAP	reconciliation	information).

•	 Shipping	our	first	156mm	wafers	targeted	for	solar	 
applications.

•	 Doubling	our	long-term	contract	total	to	approximately	 
$15	billion-$18	billion	over	the	next	10	years.

•	 Increasing	our	annual	polysilicon	capacity	to	more	than	
6,000 metric tons.

•	 Increasing	300mm	capacity	to	more	than	350,000	wafers	 
per month.

•	 Continuing	to	achieve	a	non-GAAP	return	on	assets	over	30%.

•	 Increasing	cash	and	short-term	investment	balances	to	over	
$1.3	billion.

•	 Implementing	a	share	repurchase	program.

•	 Inclusion	in	the	S&P	500	Index.

Over	the	next	few	pages,	we	will	review	our	strong	financial	
and operational performance in 2007, provide a brief update 
on the trends we are seeing in the marketplace and finally 
discuss	how	our	continued	execution	over	the	years	has	led	 
to even stronger financial and market positioning for  
MEMC’s future.

L E T T E R  T O  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S

Financial Highlights
   Percent  
Year ended December 31, 2007 2006 Change

Net Sales $1,921.8 $1,540.6 25
Gross Margin 1,000.5 689.0 45
Operating Income 849.9 558.3 52
Net Income (GAAP) 826.2 369.3 124
Net Income (non-GAAP, excluding warrants) 753.9 456.6 65
Diluted EPS (GAAP) 3.56 1.61 121
Diluted EPS (non-GAAP, excluding warrants) 3.25 1.99 63
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 917.2 527.8 74
Free Cash Flows1 640.8 379.4 69
Net Cash per Share2 5.53 2.40 130
Return on Assets3 32% 31% 3
1 Cash flows from operating activities minus capital expenditures.  
2 Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments minus debt, per share.   
3 Non-GAAP net income divided by average of beginning and ending total assets, excluding warrant benefits/impact. 
Refer to table on Page 59 for non-GAAP reconciliation information.
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In last year’s annual report, we discussed the strong results 
we delivered over the five years of Phase I through 2006. 
With this performance as a backdrop, it was important 

for	MEMC	to	start	the	next	five-year	period	of	Phase	II	with	
equally impressive performance. We are pleased to report that 
we were able to do just that. 

During	2007,	demand	for	our	300mm	wafer	products	to	
the semiconductor industry continued to improve. We also 
introduced 156mm wafer products for the fast-growing solar 
industry. These factors helped MEMC grow sales by 25 percent 
compared	with	2006	(Figure	1)	and	allowed	us	to	improve	our	
gross	margin	by	45	percent	over	2006,	or	by	730	basis	points	as	
a	percentage	of	net	sales	(Figure	2).

Operating	expense	leverage	continued	in	2007	with	operating	
expenses	declining	below	8	percent	of	sales	for	the	first	time	
to	7.8	percent	of	sales,	representing	a	65	basis	point	decline	as	
a percentage of sales. This, along with the strong gross margin 
growth, fueled an operating profit increase of 52 percent versus 
2006.	This	represents	an	operating	margin	expansion	of	799	ba-
sis	points	from	2006	to	more	than	44	percent	of	sales	(Figure	3).

The above factors helped us to achieve a 60 percent increase in 
non-GAAP	EPS,	excluding	warrants	versus	2006	(Figure	4; 
refer	to	table	on	Page	59	for	non-GAAP	reconciliation	 
information).

MEMC strives to deliver an industry-leading return on our as-
sets	and	maximize	the	return	we	get	on	each	dollar	spent.	 
In 2007, MEMC was once again successful and posted a return 
on assets of more than 30 percent. This, combined with strong 
working capital management, yielded high operating cash flow 
(Figure	5),	which	is	essential	for	a	self-funding	business	model	
in an asset-intensive industry. 

MEMC’s asset efficiency allows us to invest only 15 percent of 
revenues	into	capital	expenditures,	thereby	yielding	high	lev-
els	of	free	cash	flow,	defined	as	cash	flow	after	capital	expendi-
tures. This further enhances our strong financial position and 
puts us in an even better position to capitalize on opportuni-
ties	in	the	future.	Free	cash	flow	was	more	than	33	percent	of	
sales	in	2007,	up	from	25	percent	of	sales	in	2006	(Figure	6).	
Our consistent free cash flow generation has allowed us to 
build a cash and short-term investment balance of more than 
$1.3	billion,	or	the	equivalent	of	more	than	$5.50	per	share.	
Since MEMC maintains almost no debt, this cash is available 
to MEMC to buy back shares and return value to our share-
holders, a practice MEMC began in 2007. Our significant net 
cash position also positions us well, should strategic acquisi-
tions present themselves.

Any way you look at it, 2007 was a good start to Phase II. In the 
following sections, we will review the industry dynamics and 
our outlook for the future. We think you’ll like what you see. 

H O W  W E  D I D  I N  2 0 0 7

MEMC  Stock Price Performance vs. S&P 500 Industry-Leading Profits and Asset Efficiency
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  Valuation  
 Return Metrics Metrics
 

  Return on Return on Free Cash 2008 2008 
  Assets Investment Flow % P/E PEG

MEMC 32% 40% 33 18.2 0.6 

Peer 1 18% 22% -8 32.2 1.4 

Peer 2 13% 18% -37 25.4 0.7 

Peer 3 10% 12% 8 15.2 1.1 

Peer 4 8% 5% -4 36.2 0.5 

Peer 5 1% 1% -114 89.3 1.8

Ranked by return on assets. Source: MEMC data as reported herein, all other companies from Reuters. 
Based on share prices as of 2/26/08. Return metrics for MEMC are based on 2007 non-GAAP net income, 
excluding warrant benefit. Return metrics for peers are based on 2006 results. Return on assets equals 
income after taxes divided by average total assets. Return on investment equals annual Income after taxes 
divided by the average total long-term debt, other long-term liabilities, and shareholders equity. PEG equals 
P/E divided by Reuters consensus LT growth rate.
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FIGURE 4

MEMC Non-GAAP EPS 
Excluding Warrants
With year-over-year growth rates; see table on page 59

FIGURE 2

MEMC Gross Profit and Margin
(Dollars in millions)

FIGURE 3

MEMC Operating Profit  
and Margin
(Dollars in millions)

FIGURE 5

MEMC Operating Cash Flow 
(Dollars in millions)

FIGURE 6

MEMC Free Cash Flow
(Dollars in millions)
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FIGURE 1

MEMC Revenue (23% CAGR)
With year-over-year growth rates (Dollars in millions)
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For nearly 50 years, MEMC has been a pioneer in wafer 
development and a leader in the semiconductor wafer 
industry. Wafers are literally the foundation upon which 

semiconductors are built. These semiconductors in turn make up 
the electronic products that we use every day: laptop and desktop 
computers,	cell	phones	and	PDAs,	printers,	modems,	TVs,	digital	
cameras,	music	players,	automobiles,	etc.	(Figure	7).	Think	about	
how many electronic products you have today, compared to five 
years ago. All of these products contain devices built on wafers. 
In fact, everything electronic does. Because of the advancements 
in technology and the proliferation of electronic devices around 
the	world,	the	semiconductor	wafer	industry	ships	approximately	
10 percent more units every year, growing in tandem with semi-
conductor	device	shipments	(Figure	8).	

While	the	primary	wafer	size	today	is	8	inches	or	200	millimeters	
(mm)	in	diameter,	and	while	wafers	continue	to	be	utilized	at	the	
150mm, 125mm and even 100mm sizes, most of the growth in 
the	industry	is	occurring	in	the	12	inch,	or	300mm	diameter	(Fig-
ure	9).	In	2007,	300mm	wafers	represented	more	than	one-third	
of the total square inches shipped to the semiconductor industry 
compared with just over one-fourth in 2006. Because of the added 
value of the 300mm wafer, it commands a higher price per square 
inch. In addition, new materials solutions, like MEMC’s patented 
PerfectSilicon	and	Silicon	on	Insulator	(SOI),	can	enable	products	
or devices that are capable of holding more memory, perform 
faster, generate less heat or have longer battery life. These wafers 
also command incrementally higher prices per square inch.

MEMC continues to grow its 300mm capacity, along with 
customer demand, and has increased capacity by more than 75 
percent from 2005 levels to more than 350,000 wafers per month. 
MEMC has targeted to reach more than 700,000 wafers per 
month	by	the	end	of	2010,	based	on	market	demand	(Figure	10).	

Advancements in wafer technology have resulted in increased 
customization. The differing diameters and targeted physical and 
electrical specifications for each customer and application have 
caused the number of wafer specifications to grow by more than 
80	percent	since	1990	to	more	than	2,200,	and	could	reach	close	
to	3,000	by	the	end	of	the	decade	(Figure	11).	These	advances	
help	our	customers	reduce	their	costs	and/or	extend	the	lives	of	
their installed assets while allowing them to improve the devices 
in various ways. These device improvements, which include 
increasing the functionality, shrinking the footprint and/or 
reducing thermal dissipation, help make the electronic products 
that we buy smaller, faster and more energy efficient. 

Finally,	as	the	wafers	become	more	advanced	in	size	and	speci-
fication and more customized for each customer and begin to 
utilize advanced materials, there are fewer and fewer competitors 
that have been capable of competing with MEMC in this asset-
intensive	business	(bottom	of	Figure	11).	For	each	new	diameter	
that is introduced, there is a significant amount of capital invest-
ment	required.	For	each	new	design	node,	there	is	more	invest-
ment required. And to develop and manufacture new materials 
products,	there	is	even	more	investment	required.	For	example,	
for new materials, the investment per wafer is twice that required 
for wafers that are currently supplied to the industry. This envi-
ronment favors MEMC’s business model, which is generating 
record cash flows and profits in spite of these required invest-
ments. However, it has been too much for many competitors. As 
a result, the number of suppliers in the industry has been reduced 
from	dozens	before	1990	to	about	10	entering	this	decade	and	to	
six	today.	We	expect	this	trend	to	continue.	

With the long-term unit growth trends in place, the industry 
continuing to shift to higher value products and requiring sup-
pliers that have asset-efficient strategies to generate the cash to 
invest	in	next-generation	technologies,	we	are	in	a	better	position	
now than we were even just one year ago. 

W H A T  W E  S E E :  S E M I C O N D U C T O R  I N D U S T R Y  D Y N A M I C S

FIGURE 7

Everything Electronic Contains Wafers
Semiconductor/Electronics Food Chain
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FIGURE 11

Fewer And Fewer Competitors Are Able To Compete
Increased specialization and technical content. Fewer capable competitors. Higher barriers.

FIGURE 9

Growth Is Coming in  
Higher Value Products

FIGURE 10

MEMC Is Expanding 300mm 
Capacity to Support Demand
Year ending capacity, wafers per month

FIGURE 8
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Even though MEMC has been a leader in wafer  
technologies for nearly 50 years, we began shipping 
156mm wafers targeted to solar applications in 2007. 

Similar to semiconductor applications, silicon wafers are also 
the foundation for most solar cells. These solar cells are then 
grouped together to form solar modules, which convert energy 
from	the	sun	into	usable	electrical	energy	(Figure	12).	The	ap-
peal of a clean, renewable energy source is easy to see. But the 
cost to the user needs to be competitive with the cost of buying 
from the local power utility. 

Rising energy costs and a strong interest in renewable energy 
for environmental purposes have led to growth in the solar 
industry	of	approximately	40	percent	per	year	since	the	late	
1990s	(Figure	13).	In	addition,	an	increasing	number	of	coun-
tries around the world have established subsidy programs to 
support the continuous reduction of net installed system costs 
to the consumer over time and thereby achieve grid parity, or 
the condition where the net cost of generating solar electricity 
is	equal	to	the	local	retail	price	of	electricity	(Figure	14).	That	
is resulting in significant growth. But what if you could offer 
end-users a cost that would enable them to achieve grid parity 
without subsidies? At that level, demand becomes almost limit-
less. That’s where MEMC comes in. 

MEMC’s	cost-efficient,	vertically	integrated	position	(due	to	
making	our	raw	material	polysilicon	in-house)	enables	us	to	
offer long-term pricing road maps that would allow our select 
customers to achieve grid parity without subsidies no later than 
the	middle	of	the	next	decade.	And,	if	worldwide	energy	prices	
continue to remain high or increase in cost, grid parity could 
be achieved much earlier, thereby changing the trajectory of 
demand to MEMC’s benefit. This has led to MEMC’s signing 

of	long-term	contracts	worth	between	$15	billion	to	$18	billion	
over	the	next	10	years	in	the	form	of	fixed-price,	take-or-pay	
contracts. These contracts are also priced on a dollar-per-watt 
basis, meaning that we are contracted to deliver a set number 
of watts and will receive a predetermined amount of revenue 
for each watt. Since MEMC has the opportunity to improve the 
efficiency of the wafers and therefore increase the number of 
watts generated per wafer, we have additional opportunity to 
capture profits while providing incremental technical value to 
our customers in the form of more efficient wafers, which in 
turn will allow them to provide products that are more energy 
efficient. MEMC has been advancing wafer technology for 
nearly	50	years	and	has	built	an	excellent	R&D	platform	with	
the	technological	expertise,	insight	and	know-how	to	take	
advantage of this incentive over time. 

To	support	this	growth	potential,	MEMC	is	expanding	its	
polysilicon capacity to meet the growing demand. In fact, 
MEMC is targeting to almost quadruple its 2005 capacity of 
4,000	metric	tons	per	year	by	2010,	based	on	market	demand.	
In 2007, we grew to a year-end capacity of more than 6,000 
tons	and	are	targeting	8,000	tons	of	capacity	by	the	end	of	
2008	and	15,000	tons	by	2010	(Figure	15).	

MEMC’s position is further enhanced by a continuing shortage 
in	polysilicon	(Figure	16).	Despite	annual	predictions	by	some	
in the solar industry that polysilicon availability will improve 
in each subsequent year, the shortage has continued because of 
strong solar demand and the challenges inherent in designing, 
building, ramping and maintaining polysilicon facilities. 

With the solar industry still in its infancy and growing at a  
40	percent	clip	and	with	MEMC’s	vertical	integration	and	 
efficient	expansions	leading	to	long-term	customer	contracts	
in the double-digit billions of dollars, MEMC is already well 
on its way to achieving the 3-5 year financial targets laid out 
last year. That is the topic of our last section.

W H A T  W E  S E E :  S O L A R  I N D U S T R Y  D Y N A M I C S
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FIGURE 12

MEMC Enables Solar Power
Solar Food Chain

Source: Photon Consulting July 2007 (2006 market values shown)
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FIGURE 15

MEMC Expanding Polysilicon Capacity to Meet Demand
(In metric tons)
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FIGURE 16

Estimated Polysilicon Output vs. Demand
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Solar Market Is Growing at a 40% Annual Rate
Solar wafer and cell production 1999-2007 (In megawatts) 
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In the previous sections, we talked about how the end 
markets for our products have been growing in units at 
rates	of	40	percent	and	10	percent,	respectively,	for	the	

solar and semiconductor industries. We also discussed how as 
the units are growing, they are doing so in higher-value-added 
products	(Figure	9,	Page	5),	and	how	only	companies	that	
are self-funding and can generate sufficient cash to continue 
to invest will survive, much less thrive in the asset-intensive 
wafer industry. 

To take advantage of this opportunity, we redefined the total 
available market for our wafer products. In 2005, MEMC 
delivered wafers primarily targeted to semiconductor applica-
tions,	which	was	an	$8	billion	market	in	2005	and	is	expected	
to	be	a	$14	billion	market	in	2010	(Figure	17).	As	a	result	of	
introducing wafers targeted for solar applications in 2007, we 
more than doubled our 2010 wafer market opportunity from 
$14	billion	to	$32	billion.	If	we	were	to	achieve	the	same	mar-
ket	share	in	this	expanded	wafer	market	that	we	have	today	
in semiconductor wafer applications, it would represent a 
significant growth opportunity for MEMC while maintaining 
our	focus	on	producing	and	selling	wafers	(Figure	18).

Specifically, the intermediate targets that we had laid out in  
January	2007	were	to	achieve	revenues	of	$3	billion-$4	billion	
and	non-GAAP	earnings	per	share	of	$5-$7	in	a	three-to	five-
year	period	(Figures	19	and	20).	If	we	achieve	these	targets,	 
it would represent compound annual revenue growth of  
24	percent	over	that	five	year	period,	and	EPS	growth	over	the	
same	period	of	nearly	40	percent.	That	is	impressive	growth	
for any company and even more so for a company of our size 
which has been in business for nearly 50 years.

Just as important is the ability to generate a return on capital 
that sets a benchmark. As we alluded to in earlier sections, this 
is a very asset-intensive industry because of the increasing tech-
nology requirements for semiconductor applications and the 
need for cost-effective solutions for solar power requiring in-
house production of polysilicon, which is the most asset-inten-
sive	part	of	making	wafers.	We	are	uniquely	positioned	to	excel	
in	this	area.	We	have	demonstrated	asset	turns	in	excess	of	our	
competitors.	When	we	spend	$1	on	capital	expenditures,	we	are	
able	to	generate	more	than	$1.50	of	revenue	in	the	subsequent	
year, which is a very difficult task in an asset-intensive industry. 

Our nearest competitors are well below those levels. This allows 
us	to	continue	to	invest	internally,	not	rely	on	external	markets	
to fund our growth and to generate a strong balance sheet for 
strategic activities, should they present themselves.

As we move into the second year of Phase II, we do so as a 
stronger company than we were even one year ago. Our  
strategic position is solid and diversified, and we pride our-
selves on our ability to continue to provide substantial returns 
on our investments. We have more new products than ever 
before and are entering fast-growing markets and segments. 
Our financial position is very strong, highlighted by a cash 
and	investment	balance	of	more	than	$1.3	billion,	healthy	
profits and consistent free cash generation. And our techno-
logical position and offerings are robust and improving with 
advances in our product platforms. This positioning should 
enable us to be more profitable, to grow our business unlike 
many of our competitors and to continue to add value for our 
customers and shareholders. 

In summary, MEMC’s strategies are working and we are more 
focused and better positioned than ever before. We hope you will 
agree	that	our	vision	and	execution	are	in	sync	with	your	interests	
as we strive to continue to add value for you, the shareholder.

W H E R E  W E ’ R E  G O I N G

Nabeel Gareeb 
President and 
Chief	Executive	Officer

John Marren 
Chairman of the Board
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FIGURE 18

MEMC Opportunity

FIGURE 19

MEMC Revenue
(Dollars in millions)

FIGURE 20

MEMC Non-GAAP EPS Excluding Warrants
Refer to table on Page 59 for non-GAAP reconciliation information
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The following data has been derived from our annual consolidated financial statements, including the consolidated balance sheets 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity and the notes thereto. The information 
below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto including Note 2 related to 
significant accounting policies. 
        2007) 2006) 2005))  2004(1) 2003) 
 (in millions, except per share and employment data)

Statement of Operations Data:           
Net sales     $1,921.8) $1,540.6) $1,107.4) $1,028.0) $781.1) 
Gross margin   1,000.5) 689.0) 366.5) 369.4) 232.7) 
Marketing and administration(2)  111.3) 94.9) 76.3) 71.9) 57.2) 
Research and development  39.3) 35.8) 33.2) 38.0) 32.9) 
Operating income  849.9) 558.3) 257.0) 260.5) 142.6) 
Nonoperating (income) expense(3)  (261.9) (32.2) 4.6) 62.0) (13.3) 
Net income allocable to common stockholders(4)  826.2) 369.3) 249.4) 226.2) 116.6) 
Basic income per share  3.66) 1.66) 1.17) 1.09) 0.58) 
Diluted income per share  3.56) 1.61) 1.10) 1.02) 0.53) 
Shares used in basic income  
 per share computation  225.6) 222.1) 213.5) 207.7) 202.4) 
Shares used in diluted income  
 per share computation  232.3) 229.7) 226.4) 221.0) 218.7) 
 
Balance Sheet Data:           
Cash, cash equivalents and  
 short-term investments  1,316.4) 585.5) 153.6) 92.3) 130.7) 
Working capital  1,145.3) 641.7) 211.4) 155.0) 92.3) 
Total assets    2,887.2) 1,765.5) 1,148.1) 1,028.2) 726.8) 
Long-term debt (including current  
 portion of long-term debt)  30.9) 34.4) 39.9) 138.7) 114.2) 
Stockholders’ equity   2,035.0) 1,166.9) 711.3) 442.9) 193.6) 
 
Other Data:           
Capital expenditures  276.4) 148.4) 162.7) 145.8) 67.4) 
Employees    5,400) 5,500) 5,400) 5,500) 4,900)

(1) In the 2004 first quarter, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 55% interest in Taisil that we did not already own. As a result, the financial results of Taisil were consolidated 
with our results effective February 1, 2004. 

(2) Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”. Stock-based 
compensation expense recorded to marketing and administration expense was $25.1 million and $13.1 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Amounts recorded to marketing and 
administration expense during 2005 and prior were less than $4 million per year.

(3) Gains of $220.8 million and $18.9 million were recorded to nonoperating income in 2007 and 2006, respectively, due to the mark to market adjustment related to a warrant received 
from a customer. 

(4) During 2005, we reversed $67.1 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets. This represented the reversal of all remaining valuation allowances on deferred tax assets. 
During 2004, we reversed $137.4 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets. 

FIVE YEAR SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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COMPANY OVERVIEW 

We are a global leader in the manufacture and sale of wafers and have been a pioneer in the design and development of wafer 
technologies over the past four decades. With R&D and manufacturing facilities in the US, Europe and Asia Pacific, we enable the 
next generation of high performance semiconductor and solar applications. Our customers include major semiconductor device 
and solar cell manufacturers. We provide wafers in sizes ranging from 100 millimeters (4 inch) to 300 millimeters (12 inch). In the 
first quarter of 2007, we began delivering 156 millimeter wafers targeted for solar applications. Depending on market conditions, 
we also sell intermediate products such as polysilicon, silane gas, partial ingots and scrap wafers to semiconductor device and 
equipment makers, solar customers, flat panel and other industries. 

Our financial performance and profitability improved in almost every category in 2007, with the company growing revenue by 
approximately 25%, gross margin by over 45% and operating profit by over 52%. We also increased our annual polysilicon capacity 
to over 6,000 metric tons and our 300 millimeter wafer capacity to over 350,000 wafers per month.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Net Sales       2007% 2006% 2005%
Dollars in millions      

Net Sales      $1,921.8% $1,540.6% $1,107.4% 
Percentage Change    25% 39% 8%

Our net sales increased by 25% to $1,921.8 million in 2007 from $1,540.6 million in 2006. Increases in volume generated an increase 
in sales, which was primarily attributable to the introduction of 156 millimeter wafers in 2007 and increases in 300 millimeter wafer 
shipments. The remaining increase in our sales was due to increases in prices, which were primarily attributable to existing wafer 
products and intermediate products such as polysilicon, silane gas, partial ingots and scrap wafers. Sales of our excess polysilicon raw 
material amounted to approximately 22% and slightly less than 19% of total sales in 2007 and 2006, respectively. This percentage is 
anticipated to slowly decline over time as our wafer sales grow at a faster rate. With the inclusion of prices for the recently introduced 
156 millimeter wafers in the calculation of average selling prices, wafer average selling prices declined approximately 41% in 2007 
compared to 2006. 

Our net sales increased by 39% to $1,540.6 million in 2006 from $1,107.4 million in 2005. The increase was driven by continued price 
increases on both sales of our excess polysilicon raw material and wafers combined with increased volumes. Our wafer average selling 
prices for the 2006 year were approximately 10% higher than the average selling prices for the 2005 year. Our raw material polysilicon 
sales in 2006, as noted above, increased from 2005 in which polysilicon sales were slightly less than 10% of total sales.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



12 | MEMC 2007 ANNUAL REPORT | TECHNOLOGY IS BUILT ON US 

We operate in all the major semiconductor and solar-producing regions of the world, with approximately 76% of our 2007 net sales 
to customers located outside the United States. Net sales by geographic region for each of the last three years were as follows: 

Net Sales by Geographic Area: 
Dollars in millions 

Gross Margin      2007% 2006% 2005%
Dollars in millions  

Cost of Goods Sold    $ 921.3% $851.6% $740.9% 
Gross Margin     1,000.5% 689.0% 366.5% 
Gross Margin Percentage    52% 45% 33%

Our gross margin was $1,000.5 million in 2007 compared to $689.0 million in 2006 and increased as a percentage of sales to 52% 
from 45%. The increase in gross margins was primarily the result of an improved mix of 156 millimeter wafers, 300 millimeter 
wafers and polysilicon sales as well as higher average prices on existing wafer products and polysilicon sales throughout the year. 

Our gross margin improved to $689.0 million, or 45% of net sales, in 2006 compared to $366.5 million, or 33% of net sales, in 2005. 
The improvement was driven by price increases on both excess polysilicon and wafer sales. Cost of goods sold increased $4.3 million 
due to the recording of stock compensation expense associated with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards  
No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). 

Marketing and Administration    2007% 2006% 2005%
Dollars in millions

Marketing and Administration    $111.3% $94.9% $76.3% 
As a Percentage of Net Sales    6% 6% 7%

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Marketing and administration expenses were $111.3 million in 2007 compared to $94.9 million in 2006. As a percentage of net 
sales, marketing and administration expenses remained consistent with 2006, at 6%. In aggregate dollar amounts, marketing and 
administration fees increased due to increased stock compensation expense of $12.0 million related to new option grants, as well as 
higher professional fees and increased freight on customer shipments.

Marketing and administration expenses increased to $94.9 million in 2006 compared to $76.3 million in 2005. The increase 
was primarily a result of the recording of stock compensation expense associated with the adoption of SFAS 123R and higher 
professional fees. Stock compensation expense recorded in marketing and administration expenses was $13.1 million in 2006 as 
compared to $2.1 million in 2005. As a percentage of net sales, marketing and administration expenses in 2006 decreased to 6% 
compared to 7% in 2005. 

Research and Development    2007% 2006% 2005%
Dollars in millions      

Research and Development    $39.3% $35.8% $33.2% 
As a Percentage of Net Sales    2% 2% 3%

R&D expenses consisted mainly of product and process development efforts to increase our capability in the areas of flatness, particles 
and crystal defectivity. Our research and development expenses increased to $39.3 million in 2007 compared to $35.8 million in 2006 
mainly due to increased raw material and labor costs on next generation products and higher patent related professional fees.

Our research and development expenses increased to $35.8 million in 2006 compared to $33.2 million in 2005 due to stock 
compensation expense associated with the adoption of SFAS 123R of $1.4 million in 2006 and a reduction in the amount of R&D 
grants we received from the Department of Defense. 

Nonoperating (Income) Expense     2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions 

Interest Expense    $ 1.4) $ 2.4) $ 7.3) 
Interest Income    (45.0) (14.6) (4.2) 
Gain on Fair Value of Warrant     (220.8) (18.9) —) 
Other, Net      2.5)  (1.1) 1.5)

Interest expense in 2007 decreased to $1.4 million compared to $2.4 million in 2006. The decrease was primarily the result of a 
decrease in the commitment fees on our revolving credit facility, lower interest expense on factored receivables, an increase in the 
amount of interest capitalized to property, plant and equipment due to higher capital expenditures and a reduction in our outstanding 
debt. Interest expense in 2006 decreased to $2.4 million from $7.3 million in 2005 due to our continued reduction of debt during 2005. 

In 2007, our interest income increased to $45.0 million, compared to approximately $14.6 million in 2006 and $4.2 million in 2005. 
This change was primarily due to returns on higher cash and short-term investment balances. 

Gain on fair value of warrant represents the mark-to-market adjustment for a warrant received from a customer of $220.8 million in 
2007 compared to $18.9 million in 2006. The increase is mainly due to the increase in the price of the customer’s ordinary shares (stock 
price per share of $82.32 and $34.01 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively). 

Income Taxes      2007% 2006% 2005)%
Dollars in millions

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)    $282.2% $214.8% $(2.8)% 
Income Tax Rate as a % of Income before Income Taxes   25% 36% (1)%

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In 2007, we recorded income tax expense of $282.2 million representing 25% of income before income taxes and minority interests. 
The decrease in the overall tax rate in 2007 from 2006 was related primarily to the nontaxable gain on the fair value of the customer 
warrant as well as a reduction in the effective tax rate as a result of an increase in earnings generated by foreign subsidiaries whose 
earnings are being permanently reinvested and taxed at lower rates.

In 2006, we recorded income tax expense of $214.8 million representing 36% of income before income and minority interests. 
The increase in the overall tax rate in 2006 from 2005 was related primarily to the release of all existing valuation allowances, a 
reassessment of income tax contingent liabilities, effects of foreign operations and changes in state items in 2005 (all as described 
below) and an increase in profitability in 2006. 

In 2005, we recognized an income tax benefit of $2.8 million representing a benefit of 1% of income before income taxes and 
minority interests. The tax benefit was primarily due to reversal of valuation allowances, reassessments in reserves for changes 
of estimates of $29.6 million, effects of foreign operations on taxes offset by state income tax increases from rate changes and 
non-realizable state tax loss carry-forwards. We reversed $67.1 million of valuation allowances based on our projected future 
earnings because we believe it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will be recognized in the future. In making 
this determination, we considered all available evidence including historical pre-tax and taxable income (losses) and the expected 
timing of the reversals of existing taxable temporary differences by taxable jurisdiction. We reassessed reserves for changes in 
estimates benefiting taxes by $29.6 million primarily for allowable depreciation deductions under IRS rules and an election to 
claim U.S. foreign tax credits. We expensed $10.3 million of state income taxes related to tax rate changes and non-realizable state 
net operating losses caused by a merger in 2005 for tax purposes. We recognized a tax benefit of $9.4 million primarily from our 
election to credit foreign taxes. We made certain prior period adjustments that netted to a tax expense of $3.3 million. See “Other 
Events” below.

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

Cash and cash equivalents increased $331.8 million from $527.5 million at December 31, 2006 to $859.3 million at December 31, 2007. 
See additional discussion in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below. 

Short-term investments increased $399.1 million from $58.0 million at December 31, 2006 to $457.1 million at December 31, 2007. Our 
improved operating results have allowed us to build our cash balance, which we have continued to invest in short-term investments. 

Our inventories decreased $43.8 million or 55% to $36.4 million from the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to the 
25% increase in 2007 sales compared to 2006 and improvements in our internal supply chain. Our annualized inventory 
turns, calculated as the ratio of annualized fourth quarter cost of goods sold divided by the year-end inventory balance, were 
approximately 27 times at December 31, 2007 versus approximately 11 times at December 31, 2006. We sell our products to certain 
customers under consignment arrangements. Generally, these consignment arrangements require us to maintain a certain quantity 
of product in inventory at the customer’s facility or at a storage facility designated by the customer. At December 31, 2007, we had 
$8.4 million of inventory held on consignment, compared to $6.0 million at December 31, 2006. 

Our net property, plant and equipment increased $230.5 million to $834.0 million over the prior year. The increase was primarily 
due to capital expenditures related to expansions at our plants in Pasadena, Texas, Hsinchu, Taiwan and Merano, Italy and foreign 
currency changes, offset by depreciation expense. 

Our net deferred tax assets totaled $101.3 million at December 31, 2007 (of which $12.0 million was included in prepaid and other 
assets) compared to $131.4 million at December 31, 2006 (of which $11.9 million was included in prepaid and other assets). In 
2007, the decrease of $30.1 million in net deferred tax assets is primarily attributed to the reversal of timing items for the current 
year, which included pension and other post-retirement reserve items, fixed assets and a tax method change related to repair and 
maintenance expense. We believe that it is more likely than not, with our projections of future taxable income, that we will generate 
sufficient taxable income to realize the benefits of the net deferred tax assets existing at December 31, 2007. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Customer warrant increased from $85.5 million at the end of 2006 to $306.3 million at December 31, 2007. During 2006, MEMC 
signed a long-term supply agreement with a customer. At the same time, MEMC received a fully vested, non-forfeitable warrant 
to purchase shares of that customer. The warrant becomes exercisable over a five-year period (20% annually commencing January 
1, 2008) and has a five-year exercise period from the date each tranche becomes exercisable. We recorded $66.6 million for the 
original estimated fair value of the warrant with the offset to deferred revenue – long-term. The warrant is considered a derivative 
and is therefore marked to market each reporting period based on the market price of the underlying security. The current year 
increase represents the mark-to-market adjustment for the period and is mainly due to the increase in the price of the customer’s 
ordinary shares. 

Other assets increased $10.6 million to $68.1 million at December 31, 2007 from $57.5 million at December 31, 2006. This 
increase is mainly due to recording the estimated purchase date fair value of less than 10% of the common stock of a customer, 
which was acquired at the same time as the execution of a long-term supply agreement with that customer with the offset to 
deferred revenue – long-term.

Accounts payable increased $42.9 million to $168.3 million at December 31, 2007 compared to $125.4 million at the end of 2006. 
The increase was primarily due to the timing of capital expenditures. 

Accrued liabilities increased $8.9 million to $40.8 million at December 31, 2007 from $31.9 million at December 31, 2006. This 
increase was due to timing of utility and various other payments. 

Short-term customer deposits increased $113.6 million to $122.0 million at December 31, 2007, primarily due to a reclassification 
from other long-term liabilities for the current portion of the refundable customer deposits related to long-term supply agreements 
of $76.3 million as discussed below. These customer deposits are refundable to the customer within the next twelve months. 
The remaining increase in customer deposits of $37.3 million at December 31, 2007 relates to cash received from customers for 
anticipated future sales. In the event the future sales do not occur, these deposits would be returned to the customer. 

Income taxes payable increased $21.6 million to $75.9 million at December 31, 2007, compared to $54.3 million at December 31, 2006. 
This increase is primarily attributed to improved profitability in the U.S. and other worldwide operations over and above the benefit 
derived from our election to credit foreign taxes. Additionally, there were excess tax benefits related to the exercise of non-qualified 
stock options. The payable is net of estimated payments made to date. 

Long-term deferred revenue relates to customer supply agreements and the original estimated fair value of the warrant described 
above. We will recognize the deferred revenue on a pro-rata basis as product is shipped over the life of the contracts. The increase 
in deferred revenue from $68.1 million at December 31, 2006 to $81.4 million at December 31, 2007 is primarily the result of 
recording the initial fair value of common stock received from a customer as part of a long-term supply agreement initiated in 2006 
and increased deposits received in connection with our supply agreements.

Pension and post-employment liabilities decreased $24.0 million to $64.4 million at December 31, 2007, compared to $88.4 million 
at the end of 2006 (of which $3.8 million and $3.2 million were included in accrued liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively). This decrease was due to a favorable change in plan assumptions, contributions of approximately $15.5 million and an 
increase in the actual return on plan assets over the actuarially estimated return offset by $5.9 million of net periodic benefit cost.

Other noncurrent liabilities increased $85.1 million to $204.6 million at December 31, 2007, compared to $119.5 million at 
December 31, 2006. This increase is mainly due to an increase of approximately $46.7 million related to uncertain tax positions and 
the receipt of refundable customer deposits related to long-term supply agreements. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

          2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions      

Net Cash Provided by (Used in):         
 Operating Activities    $917.2) $527.8) $321.0) 
 Investing Activities    (688.9) (174.2) (152.6) 
 Financing Activities    76.9) 40.8) (94.4)

In 2007, we generated $917.2 million of cash from operating activities, compared to $527.8 million in 2006 and $321.0 million in 
2005. The year over year increases were primarily due to improved operating results. 

Our principal sources and uses of cash during 2007 were as follows: 

Sources: 
•	 Generated	$917.2	million	from	operations;	
•	 Received	approximately	$115.3	million	in	refundable	customer	deposits	related	to	long-term	supply	agreements;
•	 Received	approximately	$44.2	million	from	the	exercise	of	stock	options.	

Uses: 
•	 Purchased	approximately	$403.7	million	of	short-term	investments,	net;	
•	 Invested	$276.4	million	in	capital	expenditures;	
•	 Paid	approximately	$111.2	million	to	repurchase	common	stock;	
•	 Paid	approximately	$6.2	million	as	a	dividend	to	a	minority	shareholder	in	our	Korean	subsidiary;	and	
•	 Paid	down	$5.2	million	under	long-term	debt	agreements.	

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $144.2 million of committed capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2007 and 
committed capital expenditures for 2008 primarily relate to increasing our capacity and capability for our next generation products. 
We expect our capital expenditures to be approximately 15% of our net sales in 2008. 

In 2007, cash from financing activities provided $76.9 million, compared to $40.8 million in 2006. Approximately $115.3 million was 
received in connection with customer deposits related to supply agreements in 2007 compared to $37.3 million in 2006. These deposits 
are refundable to the customer after two years, although such deposits are replaced each year with new deposits based on increased 
volume commitments stated in the contract to reduce our risks associated with nonfulfillment of the contract by the customers. Also 
contributing to the increase in cash from financing activities was the excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements 
of $40.0 million in 2007, compared to $10.5 million in 2006, and $44.2 million received in connection with stock option exercises, 
compared to $17.1 million in 2006. These increases were offset by repurchases of our common stock of $111.2 million. 

On July 21, 2005, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with National City Bank of the Midwest (“National City Bank”), 
US Bank National Association, and such other lending institutions as may from time to time become lenders (the “National 
City Agreement”). The National City Agreement was amended on December 20, 2006 to reduce the commitment fee and the 
interest spread on loans bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBOR rate. Additionally, our obligations and 
the guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured by a pledge of the capital stock of certain of our domestic and 
foreign subsidiaries. The National City Agreement provides for a $200.0 million revolving credit facility and has a term of five years. 
Interest on borrowings under the National City Agreement would be payable based on our election at LIBOR plus an applicable 
margin (currently 0.34%) or at a defined prime rate plus an applicable margin (currently 0.0%). The National City Agreement also 
provides for us to pay various fees, including a commitment fee (currently 0.08%) on the lenders’ commitments. The National City 
Agreement contains covenants typical for credit arrangements of comparable size, such as minimum earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization and an interest coverage ratio. Our obligations under the National City Agreement are guaranteed 
by certain of our subsidiaries. At December 31, 2007, there were no borrowings under this credit facility, however, credit available 
under the facility has been reduced by $112.0 million related to the issuance of third party letters of credit.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Credit facilities and related borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2007 were as follows: 

           Committed)  Outstanding) 
Dollars in millions 

Long-term Debt     $270.6) $30.9) 
Short-term Borrowings     50.4) —) 
Total         $321.0) $30.9)

Of the $270.6 million in committed long-term credit facilities, $112.3 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance of third 
party letters of credit. Our weighted-average cost of borrowing was 2.2% and 2.3% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our 
short-term borrowings are subject to renewal annually with each financial institution through the course of the year. 

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

       Payments Due By Period 

         Less than) 1-3) 4-5) After 5) 
Contractual Obligations  Total) 1 Year)  Years)  Years) Years) 
Dollars in millions          

Long-term Debt1  $ 30.9) $ 5.3) $ 8.3) $ 5.2) $12.1) 
Operating Leases  13.1) 4.3) 5.0) 3.3) 0.5) 
Purchase Obligations2  688.7) 109.8) 145.0) 132.1) 301.8) 
Committed Capital Expenditures3  144.2) 144.2) —)  —)  —) 
Employee Related Liabilities4  99.5) 9.1) —)  —)  —) 
Other Long-term Liabilities—  
 Uncertain Tax Positions5  95.7) —)  —)  —)  —) 
Customer Deposits6  152.6) 76.3) 76.3) —)  —) 
Total Contractual Obligations  $1,224.7) $349.0) $234.6) $140.6) $314.4)

The contractual commitments shown above, except for our debt obligations, employee-related liabilities, uncertain tax positions 
and customer deposits, are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet. 

1 Our long-term debt consists of foreign currency denominated plant expansion borrowings that have notes maturing over the 
next ten years. 

2 Represents obligations for agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company, 
including minimum quantities to be purchased, and outstanding purchases for goods or services as of December 31, 2007. 

3 Committed capital expenditures represent commitments for construction or purchase of property, plant and equipment. They 
are not recorded as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 because we have not yet received the 
related goods or services or taken title to the property. 

4 Employee related liabilities include pension, health and welfare benefits and other post-employment benefits. Other than 
pensions, the employee related liabilities are paid as incurred and accordingly, specific future years’ payments are not 
reasonably estimable. Amounts in the table due in less than one year relate to pension funding obligations which represent the 
estimated contribution planned during 2008. Funding projections beyond the next twelve months are not practical to estimate 
due to the rules affecting tax-deductible contributions and the impact from the plan asset performance, interest rates and 
potential U.S. and international legislation. 

5 As of December 31, 2007, $95.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits were included as a component of other long-term 
liabilities. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the underlying tax positions, we are unable to reasonably estimate in which future 
periods these unrecognized tax benefits will be settled.

6 Customer deposits consist of amounts provided in connection with new long-term supply agreements which must be refunded 
to the customers according to the terms of the agreements. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others 
in our sales contracts with these customers. The terms of most of these indemnification obligations generally do not provide for a 
limitation of our liability. We have not had any claims related to these indemnification obligations. 

Our pension expense and pension liability are actuarially determined (see “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates”). Our total 
unfunded pension liability related to our various defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2007 totaled $36.4 million. Our 
pension obligations are funded in accordance with provisions of federal law. Contributions to our pension plans in 2007 totaled 
approximately $12.9 million. We expect contributions to our pension plans in 2008 to be approximately $9.1 million. 

As of December 31, 2007, we held $111.7 million of short-term investments related to auction rate securities (ARS). The ARS are 
primarily comprised of interest bearing state sponsored student loan revenue bonds with varying maturity periods and provide 
short-term liquidity via an auction process that resets the applicable interest rate at predetermined calendar intervals (typically 
every 7, 28 or 35 days). In the event of an auction failing to settle on its respective settlement date, these funds would remain 
invested at a “failed” interest rate which is typically higher than the previous market rate until the next successful auction. Of the 
$111.7 million of ARS outstanding as of December 31, 2007, $106.7 million were subsequently sold. The proceeds of the ARS sales 
were subsequently reinvested in similar ARS, some of which have failed to settle on their respective settlement date. A portion 
of those ARS that had failed to settle have subsequently had successful auctions. As of February 22, 2008, we had $96.9 million 
invested in ARS, $61.8 million of which remain invested at a “failed” interest rate. For those auctions that had failed to settle, we will 
not be able to access those funds until the next successful auction or another buyer is found outside of the auction process. We do 
not anticipate having to sell these securities below par value in order to operate our business. See Critical Accounting Policies and 
Estimates related to our process of evaluating investments for impairment.

As of December 31, 2007, we held $299.5 million of short-term investments in a strategic investment portfolio with a major banking 
institution primarily invested in corporate, asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities. These investments were initially in an 
enhanced cash fund with a major banking institution that was subsequently liquidated due to current unfavorable liquidity conditions 
in the credit and capital markets. Upon our request, the underlying securities of the fund were transferred to a separately managed 
account with fair values slightly below their par values. These temporary impairments were $4.3 million as of December 31, 2007. We 
believe the decline in fair value to be directly attributed to the current global credit conditions which we believe are temporary. See 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates related to our process of evaluating investments for impairment.

We believe that, based on our current cash, cash equivalents and short term investment balances of approximately $1.3 billion at 
December 31, 2007 and expected operating cash flows, the current liquidity concerns in the credit and capital markets will not have 
a material impact on our liquidity, cash flow, financial flexibility or our ability to fund our operations.

We believe that we have the financial resources needed to meet business requirements for at least the next 12 months, including 
capital expenditures and working capital requirements. 

OTHER EVENTS 

Certain adjustments recorded in 2005 related to accounting errors from previous periods. The amount of such adjustments was not 
material to our consolidated results of operations for 2004 and prior periods, nor is the inclusion of the net expense in the results of 
operations for 2005 considered material. The effect of these adjustments on gross margin and net income for 2005 was as follows:

          Impact on) Impact on) 
2005 Prior Period Adjustments – increase (decrease)    Gross Margin)  Net Income)
Dollars in millions    

Income Taxes, net     $ 2.4) $(3.3) 
Other         (3.7)  (2.3)
Total         $(1.3) $(5.6)
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Included in the Income Taxes, net are prior period adjustments, including a benefit of $6.5 million related to the portion of the 
interest on senior subordinated notes deductible for tax purposes, additional expense of $2.9 million (tax expense of $7.4 million 
offset by less depreciation expense and other adjustments) related to the U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“US 
GAAP”)	treatment	of	fixed	asset	basis	under	the	Korea	Asset	Revaluation	Law,	additional	expense	of	$6.0	million	associated	with	
non-qualified stock option deductions in prior periods, and additional expense of $0.9 million related to amended tax filings and 
reassessment of tax basis limitations. 

Included in Other are primarily adjustments to cost of goods sold and inventory of approximately $2.4 million for profit not previously 
eliminated from inventory for product shipped between operations and other adjustments that are not individually significant. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and related footnotes. In preparing these financial statements, management has made its best 
estimates of certain amounts included in the financial statements. However, application of these accounting policies involves the 
exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. 
Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements herein. 

Revenue Recognition 

We record revenue for product sales when title transfers, the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, 
the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured, which is generally at the time of 
shipment for non-consignment orders. In the case of consignment orders, title passes when the customer pulls the product from 
the assigned storage facility or storage area or, if the customer does not pull the product within a contractually stated period of 
time (generally 60–90 days), at the end of that period, or when the customer otherwise agrees to take title to the product. Our 
wafers are generally made to customer specifications and we conduct rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure 
that the finished wafers meet the customer’s specifications before the product is shipped. We consider international shipping term 
definitions in our determination of when title passes. We defer revenue for multiple element arrangements based on an average fair 
value per unit for the total arrangement when we receive cash in excess of fair value. We also defer revenue when pricing is not fixed 
and determinable or other revenue recognition criteria is not met. 

In connection with supply agreements executed during 2006, we received various equity instruments and recorded their fair value 
to long-term deferred revenue. We will recognize the deferred revenue on a pro-rata basis as product is shipped over the life of the 
contracts. During 2007, we executed a wafer agreement in which the terms of any equity consideration provided by the customer 
have not been finalized. If and when the terms are finalized, the estimated fair value of the additional consideration, if determinable 
and material, will be recorded to deferred revenue.

Inventory 

Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Raw materials 
are stated at weighted-average cost. Goods in process and finished goods inventories are stated at standard cost as adjusted for 
variances, which approximates weighted-average actual cost. The valuation of inventory requires us to estimate excess and slow 
moving inventory. The determination of the value of excess and slow moving inventory is based upon assumptions of future 
demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional 
inventory write-downs may be required. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

We depreciate our building, improvements, and machinery and equipment evenly over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Changes 
in circumstances such as technological advances, changes in our business model, or changes in our capital strategy could result in 
the actual useful lives differing from our estimates. In those cases where we determine that the useful life of property, plant and 
equipment should be shortened or lengthened, we depreciate the net book value over its revised remaining useful life. 
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In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we periodically assess the 
impairment of long-lived assets when conditions indicate a possible loss. When necessary, we record charges for impairments of 
long-lived assets for the amount by which the present value of future cash flows, or some other fair value measure, is less than the 
carrying value of these assets. We have recorded no significant impairment charges in 2007, 2006 or 2005. 

Income Taxes 

In determining taxable income for financial statement reporting purposes, we must make certain estimates and judgments. We 
calculate our current and deferred tax provisions based upon estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results 
reflected in our income tax returns filed during the subsequent year. We record adjustments based on filed returns when we have 
identified the adjustments and finalized the returns, which is generally in the third and fourth quarters of the subsequent year. 
These estimates and judgments are applied in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination of the recoverability 
of deferred tax assets, which arise from temporary differences between the recognition of assets and liabilities for tax and financial 
statement reporting purposes. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for realizability, taking into consideration all available 
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical pre-tax and taxable income (losses), projected future pre-tax and 
taxable income (losses) and the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences. In arriving at these judgments, 
the weight given to the potential effect of all positive and negative evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be 
objectively verified. 

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), 
as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition 
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. From time to time, we are subject to income 
tax audits in these jurisdictions. We believe that our tax return positions are fully supported, but tax authorities are likely to 
challenge certain positions, which may not be fully sustained. However, our income tax expense includes amounts intended to 
satisfy income tax assessments that may result from these challenges. Determining the income tax expense for these potential 
assessments and recording the related assets and liabilities requires significant judgments and estimates. Under FIN 48, tax 
benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. 
The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon 
ultimate settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits are tax benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet these recognition and 
measurement standards. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, uncertain tax positions were accounted for under either FASB Statement 
No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” or FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” We believe that our income tax 
liabilities, including related interest, are adequate in relation to the potential for additional tax assessments. There is a risk, however, 
that the amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be materially different from the amounts previously included in 
our income tax expense and, therefore, could have a material impact on our tax provision, net income and cash flows. We review 
our liabilities quarterly, and we may adjust such liabilities due to proposed assessments by tax authorities, changes in facts and 
circumstances, issuance of new regulations or new case law, negotiations between tax authorities of different countries concerning 
our transfer prices, the resolution of entire audits, or the expiration of statutes of limitations. Adjustments, if required, are most 
likely to occur in the year during which major audits are closed. 

We repatriate a portion of the current year earnings of a certain subsidiary to the United States. We do not provide for U.S. income 
taxes on the remaining undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries which would be payable if the undistributed earnings 
were distributed to the U.S., as we consider those foreign earnings to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. We plan foreign 
remittance amounts based on projected cash flow needs as well as the working capital and long-term investment requirements of 
our foreign subsidiaries and our domestic operations. 

Employee-Related Liabilities 

We have a long-term liability for our defined benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans. Our obligations are funded in 
accordance with provisions of federal law. We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting 
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for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS 158”) as of December 31, 2006, except for the change in 
measurement date provisions which will be adopted in the fourth quarter of 2008. SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the 
overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position 
and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income.

Our pension and other post-employment liabilities are actuarially determined, and we use various actuarial assumptions, 
including the discount rate, rate of salary increase, and expected return on assets, to estimate our costs and obligations. If our 
assumptions do not materialize as expected, expenditures and costs that we incur could differ from our current estimates. We 
determine the expected return on plan assets based on our pension plans’ actual asset mix as of the beginning of the year. While the 
assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 2007 was 8.0%, the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in the 
comparable period in 2007 was 14.6%. We consult with the plans’ actuaries to determine a discount rate assumption that reflects 
the characteristics of our plans, including expected cash outflows from our plans, and utilize an analytical tool that incorporates the 
concept of a hypothetical yield curve, developed from corporate bond (Aa quality) yield information. Assuming a 100 basis point 
variation in these assumptions, our 2007 pension expense would have been approximately $2.3 million higher or lower. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), using the modified prospective transition method and therefore have not 
restated prior periods’ results. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 
2006 included compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January 
1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation”. Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted after December 
31, 2005 is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize these 
compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture rate and recognize the compensation costs for only those shares expected to vest 
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term. With the adoption 
of SFAS 123R, we elected to recognize stock-based compensation expense for all grants on or after January 1, 2006 on a straight-line 
basis over the requisite service period of the entire award for ratable awards. For awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, we will 
continue to calculate compensation expense by treating each vesting tranche as a separate award. We estimated the forfeiture rate 
for 2006 and 2007 based on our historical experience during the preceding four fiscal years. 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“Opinion 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related 
interpretations. Accordingly, we generally recognized expense only when we granted options with a discounted exercise price. Any 
resulting compensation expense was recognized over the associated service period, which was generally the option vesting term. 

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards require the making of 
subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the share-based payment awards and stock price volatility. The assumptions 
used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve 
inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different assumptions, 
our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, we are required to estimate the 
expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially 
different from our estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded 
in the current period. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $66.1 million of total estimated unrecognized compensation cost 
related to stock options is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of two years. See Note 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for a further discussion on stock-based compensation. 

Investments

On July 25, 2006, MEMC received a fully vested, non-forfeitable warrant to purchase common shares of a customer. The warrant 
becomes exercisable over a five year period (20% annually commencing on January 1, 2008) and has a five year exercise period from 
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the date each tranche becomes exercisable. The warrant is considered a derivative and is therefore marked to market each reporting 
period. Determining the appropriate fair value model and estimating the fair value of the warrant requires the making of subjective 
assumptions, including the stock price volatility of the customer. We used a lattice model to estimate the warrant’s fair value. A 
combination of the customer’s historical and implied stock price volatility was used as an indicator of expected volatility.  

Our investment in equity securities consists of a customer’s common stock acquired in connection with the execution of a long-
term supply agreement. The fair value of the investment for disclosure purposes was estimated based on the closing stock price on 
December 31, 2007 reduced by the estimated value of a regulatory restriction on sale. The value of the regulatory restriction on sale was 
estimated using a Black Scholes model considering the stock price volatility, expected term, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate.

We also have investments in debt securities which require us to make estimates of their fair values to determine the unrealized gains 
and losses on the securities, if any losses are temporary or other than temporary and concerning the ability and related timing of 
liquidating our holdings. Unrealized losses are recorded to other income and expense when a decline in fair value is determined 
to be other-than-temporary. In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1,“The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment 
and Its Application to Certain Investments,” we review several factors to determine whether a loss is other-than-temporary. These 
factors	include	but	are	not	limited	to	the:	(i)	nature	of	the	investment;	(ii)	cause	and	duration	of	the	impairment;	(iii)	extent	to	
which	fair	value	is	less	than	cost;	(iv)	financial	condition	and	near	term	prospects	of	the	issuer;	and	(v)	ability	to	hold	the	security	
for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Realized gains and losses are accounted for on 
the specific identification method. We determine the fair value of our debt securities using quoted prices from active and inactive 
markets, traded prices for similar assets, or fair value measurements based on a pricing model. We also review our ability to 
liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating cycle to determine the appropriate short or long-term classification. 
Our ability to liquidate is determined based on a review of current and short-term credit and capital market conditions and the 
financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 
157”), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We have determined that 
the adoption of SFAS 157 will not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans” (“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit 
postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the 
year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income of a business entity. This requirement was effective and adopted 
during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of 
the date of its year-end statement of financial position. This requirement becomes effective for fiscal years ending after December 
15, 2008. We have not yet determined the impact the measurement date provision of SFAS 158 will have on our consolidated results 
of operations and financial condition. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”), which establishes principles and 
requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities 
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree, including the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in a 
business combination. The requirements of SFAS 141R are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on 
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment 
of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling 
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is 
sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in 
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the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, this statement requires consolidated net income to be reported 
at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, 
on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the 
noncontrolling interest. The requirements of SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We have not yet determined the impact SFAS 160 will have on our consolidated results of 
operations and financial condition.

MARKET RISK 

The overall objective of our financial risk management program is to reduce the potential negative earnings effects from changes 
in foreign exchange and interest rates arising in our business activities. We manage these financial exposures through operational 
means and by using various financial instruments. These practices may change as economic conditions change. 

To mitigate financial market risks of foreign currency exchange rates, we utilize currency forward contracts. We do not use 
derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. We generally hedge transactional currency risks with currency 
forward contracts. Gains and losses on these foreign currency exposures are generally offset by corresponding losses and gains on 
the related hedging instruments, resulting in negligible net exposure to MEMC. A substantial majority of our revenue and capital 
spending is transacted in U.S. Dollars. However, we do enter into these transactions in other currencies, primarily, the Euro, the 
Japanese Yen, and certain other Asian currencies. To protect against reductions in value and volatility of future cash flows caused 
by changes in foreign exchange rates, we have established transaction-based hedging programs. Our hedging programs reduce, but 
do not always eliminate, the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements. In addition to the direct effects of changes in 
exchange rates, such changes typically affect the volume of sales or the foreign currency sales price as competitors’ products become 
more or less attractive. Our Taiwan, Malaysia and Singapore based subsidiaries use the U.S. Dollar as their functional currencies for 
US GAAP purposes and do not hedge New Taiwanese Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit or Singapore Dollar exposures. 

We are subject to interest rate risk related to our cash equivalent and short-term investment portfolio. To mitigate substantial risk 
associated with changes in interest rates, we seek to obtain fixed rate securities, actively manage our portfolio duration and diversify 
across different currencies. Our long-term debt is also at a fixed rate. In addition to interest rate risk on our cash equivalents and 
short-term investments, we are subject to issuer credit risk as the value of our investments may change based on liquidity issues 
or adverse economic conditions affecting the creditworthiness of the issuers or group of issuers of the securities we may own. See 
additional discussion in Liquidity and Capital Resources and Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. To mitigate such risk, 
a majority of our investments are in AAA rated municipal or corporate debt instruments. Due to the diversity of and numerous 
securities in our portfolio, estimating a hypothetical change in value of our portfolio based on estimated changes in interest rates 
and issuer risk is not practical. 

With the receipt of the customer warrant and our investment in a customer’s stock, we are exposed to equity price risk. A 
hypothetical 10% change in the stock price of our customer in which we maintain a warrant would result in an estimated change 
in the fair value of the warrant of approximately $42.5 million at December 31, 2007. Our investment in a customer’s stock is 
carried	at	cost;	however,	the	fair	value	of	the	investment	fluctuates	with	the	change	in	stock	price.	Considering	a	discount	for	lack	of	
marketability due to a regulatory restriction on sale, a 10% change in the stock price of our customer’s stock from the stock price at 
December 31, 2007 would result in a gain/loss on the fair value of approximately $5.4 million at December 31, 2007. 

The stock price underlying the warrant as well as the stock price related to the investment in equity securities declined subsequent to 
December 31, 2007. Based on the closing stock prices on February 21, 2008, the warrant had an estimated value of approximately $93.4 
million and the investment in equity securities had an estimated fair value of approximately $31.3 million as of February 21, 2008. 
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 For the year ended December 31, 
         2007)  2006)  2005) 
In millions, except per share data

Net sales       $1,921.8) $1,540.6) $1,107.4) 
Cost of goods sold    921.3) 851.6) 740.9) 
  Gross margin    1,000.5) 689.0) 366.5) 
Operating expenses:       
 Marketing and administration    111.3) 94.9) 76.3) 
 Research and development    39.3) 35.8) 33.2)
  Operating income    849.9) 558.3) 257.0)
Nonoperating (income) expense:       
 Interest expense    1.4) 2.4) 7.3) 
 Interest income    (45.0) (14.6) (4.2) 
 Gain on fair value of warrant    (220.8)  (18.9) —)  
 Other, net     2.5) (1.1) 1.5)
  Total nonoperating (income) expense    (261.9) (32.2) 4.6)
 Income before income tax expense (benefit) and minority interests  1,111.8) 590.5) 252.4) 
Income tax expense (benefit)    282.2) 214.8) (2.8)
  Income before minority interests    829.6) 375.7) 255.2) 
Minority interests    (3.4) (6.4) (5.8)
Net income      $ 826.2) $ 369.3) $ 249.4)

Basic income per share    $ 3.66) $ 1.66) $ 1.17)

Diluted income per share    $ 3.56) $ 1.61) $ 1.10)

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic income per share  225.6) 222.1) 213.5) 
Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted income per share  232.3) 229.7) 226.4)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006) 
In millions, except per share data

Assets 
Current assets:     
 Cash and cash equivalents     $ 859.3) $ 527.5) 
 Short-term investments     457.1) 58.0) 
 Accounts receivable, net     197.9) 199.0) 
 Inventories      36.4) 80.2) 
 Prepaid and other current assets     38.8) 34.8)
  Total current assets     1,589.5) 899.5) 
Property, plant and equipment, net     834.0) 603.5) 
Deferred tax assets, net     89.3) 119.5) 
Customer warrant     306.3) 85.5) 
Other assets      68.1) 57.5)
  Total assets     $2,887.2) $1,765.5)

 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Current liabilities:     
 Current portion of long-term debt     $ 5.3) $ 5.0) 
 Accounts payable     168.3) 125.4) 
 Accrued liabilities     40.8) 31.9) 
 Accrued wages and salaries     31.9) 32.8) 
 Customer deposits     122.0) 8.4) 
 Income taxes payable     75.9) 54.3)
  Total current liabilities     444.2) 257.8) 
Long-term debt, less current portion     25.6) 29.4) 
Pension and post-employment liabilities     60.6) 85.2) 
Deferred revenue     81.4) 68.1) 
Other liabilities     204.6) 119.5)
  Total liabilities     816.4) 560.0)
Minority interests      35.8) 38.6) 
Commitments and contingencies  
Stockholders’ equity:  
 Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50.0 shares authorized, none issued  
  or outstanding at December 31, 2007 or 2006    —)  —)  
 Common stock, $.01 par value, 300.0 shares authorized, 231.9 and 224.0  
  issued at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively    2.3) 2.2) 
 Additional paid-in capital     358.0) 242.5) 
 Retained earnings     1,760.5) 933.8) 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    29.8) (7.4) 
 Treasury stock: 2.6 and 0.7 shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively   (115.6) (4.2)
  Total stockholders’ equity     2,035.0) 1,166.9)
   Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity     $2,887.2) $1,765.5)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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 For the year ended December 31, 
         2007)  2006)  2005) 
In millions

Cash flows from operating activities:       
 Net income     $ 826.2) $ 369.3) $ 249.4) 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      
  Depreciation and amortization    80.7) 70.2) 57.2) 
  Minority interests    3.4) 6.4) 5.8) 
  Stock-based compensation    31.1) 19.0) 2.1) 
  Provision for (benefit from) deferred taxes    24.5) 47.1) (44.1) 
  Gain on fair value of warrant    (220.8) (18.9) —)  
  Other      (1.1) (3.6) 15.6) 
  Changes in assets and liabilities:  
   Short-term investments – trading securities   9.5) (0.8) 8.3) 
   Accounts receivable    6.0) (69.8) 27.8) 
   Inventories    45.5) 42.6) 1.3) 
   Prepaid and other current assets     (3.9)  3.7) (7.0) 
   Accounts payable    19.6) (8.5) 6.5) 
   Accrued liabilities    6.9) (18.7) (4.3) 
   Accrued wages and salaries      (2.6) 5.2) 8.6) 
   Deferred revenue and customer deposits   39.0) (9.3) 12.8) 
   Income taxes payable    18.3) 45.6) 23.8) 
   Pension and post-employment liabilities     (9.9) 10.1) (11.4) 
   Other noncurrent assets and liabilities    44.8) 38.2) (31.4)
  Net cash provided by operating activities    917.2) 527.8) 321.0)
Cash flows from investing activities:  
 Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments   93.2) 32.2) 46.2) 
 Purchases of investments    (506.4) (62.0) (37.9) 
 Capital expenditures    (276.4) (148.4) (162.7) 
 Other       0.7) 4.0) 1.8)
  Net cash used in investing activities    (688.9) (174.2) (152.6)
Cash flows from financing activities:  
 Net repayments on short-term borrowings      —)  (13.2) (9.0) 
 Proceeds from customer deposits related to long-term supply agreements  115.3) 37.3) —)  
 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt    —)  —)  60.0) 
 Principal payments on long-term debt    (5.2) (5.3) (149.5) 
 Debt financing fees    —)  —)  (1.2) 
 Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements   40.0) 10.5) —) 
 Dividend to minority interest    (6.2) (5.6) (9.5) 
 Common stock repurchased    (111.2) —)  —) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock    44.2) 17.1) 14.8)
  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   76.9) 40.8) (94.4)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   26.6) 6.6) 3.0)
 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    331.8) 401.0) 77.0) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    527.5) 126.5) 49.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 859.3) $ 527.5) $ 126.5)
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:       
 Interest payments, net of amount capitalized    $ 0.4) $ 1.4) $ 6.4) 
 Income taxes paid    $ 147.8) $ 77.0) $ 27.9) 
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:  
 Accounts payable incurred (relieved) for acquisition of fixed assets  $ 19.3) $ 24.9) $ (16.1)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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           Accumulated) ) )  Total ) 
       )   Other Com-) ) )  Compre- ) 
       ) Additional)  prehensive) Deferred) Common Stock) Total) hensive ) 
      Common Stock Issued  Paid-in) Retained) Income) Compen-)  Held in Treasury) Stockholders’) Income )
      Shares) Amount) Capital) Earnings)  (Loss)) sation) Shares) Amount) Equity) (Loss) )
In millions

Balance at December 31, 2004 209.1) $2.1) $154.7) $ 308.3) $(17.4) $(1.3) (0.7) $ (3.6) $ 442.8) 
Comprehensive income: 
 Net income  —)  —)  —)  249.4) —)  —)  —)  —)  249.4) $249.4) 
 Net translation adjustment —)  —)  —)  —)  (22.0) —)  —)  —)  (22.0) (22.0) 
 Minimum pension liability  
  (net of $12.1 tax) —)  —)  —)  —)   3.6) —)  —)  —)  3.6) 3.6) 
Stock plans, net  3.2) —)  37.0) —)  —)  1.2) —)  (0.6) 37.6)  
Net exercise of warrants 10.0) 0.1) (0.1) —)  —)  —)  —)  —  —)   
Total comprehensive income                   $231.0)
Balance at December 31, 2005 222.3) $2.2) $191.6) $ 557.7) $(35.8) $(0.1) (0.7) $ (4.2) $ 711.4) 
SAB 108 cumulative effect adjustment —)  —)  —)  6.8) —)  —)  —)  —)  6.8) 
SFAS 158 adjustment  
 (net of $4.4 tax) —)  —)  —)  —)   7.1) —)  —)  —)  7.1)  
Comprehensive income:                     
 Net income  —)  —)  —)  369.3) —)  —)  —)  —)  369.3) $369.3) 
 Net translation adjustment —)  —)  —)  —)  18.6) —)  —)  —)  18.6) 18.6) 
 Minimum pension liability  
  (net of $1.6 tax) —)  —)  —)  —)   2.7) —)  —)  —)  2.7) 2.7) 
Stock plans, net  1.7) —)  50.9) —)  —)  0.1) — )  —)  51.0) 
Total comprehensive income                   $ 390.6)
Balance at December 31, 2006 224.0) $2.2) $242.5) $ 933.8) $ (7.4) $ —)  (0.7) $ (4.2) $1,166.9) 
FIN 48 adjustment —)  —)  —)  0.5) —)  —)  —)  —)  0.5)  
Comprehensive income:                     
 Net income  —)  —)  —)  826.2) —)  —)  —)  —)  826.2) $826.2) 
 Net translation adjustment —)  —)  —)  —)   32.3) —)  —)  —)  32.3) 32.3) 
 Net unrecognized actuarial loss  
  and prior service credit  
  (net of $5.9 tax) —)  —)  —)  —)   9.2) —)  —)  —)  9.2) 9.2) 
 Net unrealized loss on  
  available-for-sale securities —)  —)  —)  —)   (4.3) —)  —)  —)  (4.3) (4.3) 
Stock plans, net  3.4) —)  115.6) —)  —)  —)   (0.1)  (0.2) 115.4)   
Common stock repurchases —)  —)  —)   —)  —)  —)  (1.8)  (111.2) (111.2)  
Net exercise of warrants 4.5) 0.1) (0.1) —)  —)  —)  —)  —)  —)
Total comprehensive income                   $863.4)
Balance at December 31, 2007 231.9) $2.3) $358.0)  $1,760.5)  $ 29.8) $ —)  (2.6) $(115.6) $2,035.0)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

We are a global leader in the manufacture and sale of wafers and have been a pioneer in the design and development of wafer 
technologies over the past four decades. With R&D and manufacturing facilities in the US, Europe and Asia Pacific, we enable the 
next generation of high performance semiconductor and solar applications. Our customers include major semiconductor device 
and solar cell manufacturers. We provide wafers in sizes ranging from 100 millimeters (4 inch) to 300 millimeters (12 inch). In the 
first quarter of 2007, we began delivering 156 millimeter wafers targeted for solar applications. Depending on market conditions, 
we also sell intermediate products such as polysilicon, silane gas, partial ingots and scrap wafers to semiconductor device and 
equipment makers, solar customers, flat panel and other industries.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Use of Estimates 

In preparing our financial statements, we use estimates and assumptions that may affect reported amounts and disclosures. 
Estimates are used when accounting for investments, depreciation, amortization, accrued liabilities, employee benefits, derivatives, 
stock based compensation, income taxes and asset valuation allowances. Our actual results could differ from those estimates. 

(b) Reclassifications 

Prior year amounts for customer deposits and deferred revenue have been reclassified to conform with the current year 
presentation. 

(c) Principles of Consolidation 

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and our wholly and majority-
owned subsidiaries. We record minority interest for non-wholly owned consolidated subsidiaries. All significant intercompany 
balances and transactions among our subsidiaries have been eliminated. 

In November 2001, Texas Pacific Group (TPG) acquired a beneficial ownership of approximately 72% of the outstanding stock 
of MEMC. In connection with that transaction, the assets of a majority-owned subsidiary were understated and a portion of the 
subsequent depreciation of those assets should have been charged to minority interests. The effect in any individual prior year was 
not material to our results of operations, financial position or cash flows. During 2006, MEMC adopted the provisions of Staff 
Accounting Bulletin No. 108 and recorded a cumulative credit adjustment of $6.8 million to beginning retained earnings related 
to the minority interest that was overstated as of December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2007, TPG no longer had any beneficial 
ownership of MEMC stock. 

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents include highly liquid commercial paper, time deposits and money market funds with original maturity periods of 
three months or less when purchased. 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions    

Cash         $285.0) $ 85.7) 
Cash Equivalents 
 Commercial paper     45.5) 110.8) 
 Time deposits     296.9) 65.3) 
 Money market funds     231.9) 265.7) 
          $859.3) $527.5)
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(e) Investments 

Short-term investments consist of the following: 

Time Deposits. Time deposits are comprised mainly of demand deposits with commercial banks or investment companies having 
fixed original maturities exceeding three months but less than or equal to one year with fixed interest rates including pre-payment 
penalties for early withdrawal. Purchases and sales of time deposits are included in investing activities in the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows. 

Trading Investments. Trading investments are stated at fair value, with realized and unrealized gains or losses resulting from 
changes in fair value recognized currently in non-operating income and expense. Included in trading investments are beneficiary 
certificates and marketable securities. Purchases and sales of trading investments are included in operating activities in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

Available-for-Sale Investments. Investments designated as available-for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and 
losses, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. Purchases and sales of available-for-sale investments are 
included in investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

Long-term investments of $12.4 million and $2.4 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006 consist of less than 10% of the common 
stock of a customer, which was acquired at the same time as the execution of a long-term supply agreement with that customer.  
This investment in Other Assets is accounted for under the cost method of accounting. The investment was originally recorded at a 
cost of $2.4 million until the acquisition date fair value was determined during the first quarter of 2007. The estimated fair value of 
$12.4 million increased the investment value $10.0 million, with the offset recorded to long-term deferred revenue.

Investments are evaluated at each period end date for impairment. Unrealized losses are recorded to other income and expense 
when a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary. In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1,“The Meaning 
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” we review several factors to determine whether 
a	loss	is	other-than-temporary.	These	factors	include	but	are	not	limited	to	the:	(i)	nature	of	the	investment;	(ii)	cause	and	duration	
of	the	impairment;	(iii)	extent	to	which	fair	value	is	less	than	cost;	(iv)	financial	condition	and	near	term	prospects	of	the	issuer;	and	
(v) ability to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Realized gains and 
losses are accounted for on the specific identification method. We determine the fair value of our debt securities using quoted prices 
from active and inactive markets, traded prices for similar assets, or fair value measurements based on a pricing model. We also 
review our ability to liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating cycle to determine the appropriate short or long-
term classification. Our ability to liquidate is determined based on a review of current and short-term credit and capital market 
conditions and the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer. 

(f) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts to adjust our net receivables to amounts considered to be ultimately collectible. 
Our allowance is based on a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, significant one-time events, the 
financial health of our customers and historical experience. The balance of our allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.2 million 
and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

 (g) Inventories 

Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Raw materials 
are stated at weighted-average cost. Goods in process and finished goods inventories are stated at standard cost as adjusted for 
variances, which approximates weighted-average actual cost. The valuation of inventory requires us to estimate excess and slow 
moving inventory. The determination of the value of excess and slow moving inventory is based upon assumptions of future 
demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, inventory 
write-downs may be required. 
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(h) Property, Plant and Equipment 

We record property, plant and equipment at cost and depreciate it evenly over the assets’ estimated useful lives as follows: 

           Years)
Buildings and improvements      4-60) 
Machinery and equipment      1-15)

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $79.3 million, $68.2 million and $55.3 million, 
respectively. 

The cost of constructing facilities and equipment includes interest costs. Capitalized interest totaled $1.0 million, $0.7 million and 
$0.6 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

(i) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,” we periodically assess the impairment of long-lived assets when conditions indicate a possible loss. When necessary, 
we record charges for impairments of long-lived assets for the amount by which the present value of future cash flows, or some 
other fair value measure, is less than the carrying value of these assets. We have recorded no significant impairment charges in 2007, 
2006 or 2005. 

(j) Operating Leases 

The Company enters into lease agreements for a variety of business purposes, including office and manufacturing space, office and 
manufacturing equipment and computer equipment. A portion of these are noncancellable operating leases. 

(k) Customer Deposits 

MEMC has executed supply agreements, including any amendments, with multiple customers which required the customers to provide 
security deposits. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the balance of these deposits totaled $152.6 million and $37.3 million, respectively. 
These deposits are required to be refunded to the customers over the next two years, as set forth in the agreements, unless minimum 
purchase quantities are not met. These deposits are generally refundable to the customer over two years, although such deposits are 
replaced each year with new deposits based on increased volume commitments stated in the supply agreements to reduce our risks 
associated with non-fulfillment of the supply agreements by the customers. The long-term portion of these deposits is included in other 
noncurrent liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2007, the following obligations were outstanding: 

 Refundable Amounts Due By Period 

          Less than) 1-3)  
         Total) 1 Year) Years) 
Dollars in millions         

Customer Deposits     $152.6) $76.3) $76.3)

(l) Revenue Recognition 

We record revenue for product sales when title transfers, the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, 
the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured, which is generally at the time of 
shipment for non-consignment orders. In the case of consignment orders, title passes when the customer pulls the product from 
the assigned MEMC storage facility or storage area or, if the customer does not pull the product within a contractually stated period 
of time (generally 60–90 days), at the end of that period, or when the customer otherwise agrees to take title to the product. Our 
wafers are generally made to customer specifications and we conduct rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure 
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that the finished wafers meet the customer’s specifications before the product is shipped. We consider international shipping term 
definitions in our determination of when title passes. We defer revenue for multiple element arrangements based on a fair value 
per unit for the total arrangement when we receive cash in excess of fair value. We also defer revenue when pricing is not fixed and 
determinable or other revenue recognition criteria is not met. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, MEMC had $6.1 million and $1.5 million, respectively of long-term deferred revenue related 
to the non-refundable portion of cash received in connection with the new supply agreements executed during 2006, as amended. 
MEMC also had $75.3 million and $66.6 million of long-term deferred revenue related to additional consideration received from 
our customers in the form of equity instruments as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We recognize the deferred revenue 
on a pro-rata basis as product is shipped over the life of the contracts. 

(m) Derivative Financial Instruments 

During 2006, MEMC signed a long-term supply agreement with a customer. At the same time, MEMC received a fully vested, 
non-forfeitable warrant to purchase common shares of that customer. The warrant becomes exercisable over a five year period 
(20% annually) beginning January 1, 2008 and has a five year exercise period from the date each tranche becomes exercisable. We 
recorded $66.6 million for the estimated grant date fair value of the warrant in customer warrant with the offset to deferred revenue 
– long-term in accordance with EITF 00-8 “Accounting by a Grantee for an Equity Instrument to be received in conjunction 
with Providing Goods or Services”. This non-cash transaction has been excluded from the Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of the warrant require the making of estimates 
and assumptions, including the customer’s stock price volatility, interest rate, dividends, marketability and expected return 
requirements. We used a lattice model to determine the warrant’s fair value. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of 
the warrant represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of our judgment. 
The warrant is considered a derivative and is therefore marked to market each reporting period. Accordingly, in 2007 and 2006, 
$220.8 million and $18.9 million, respectively, was recorded as an increase to other assets – long-term and nonoperating income. 

We generally use currency forward contracts to manage foreign currency exchange risk relating to current trade receivables with 
our foreign subsidiaries and current trade receivables and payables with our customers and vendors denominated in foreign 
currencies (primarily Japanese Yen and Euro). The purpose of our foreign currency derivative activities is to protect us from the risk 
that the dollar net cash flows resulting from foreign currency transactions will be negatively affected by changes in exchange rates. 
We do not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

Gains or losses on our forward exchange contracts, as well as the offsetting losses or gains on the related hedged receivables, are 
included in nonoperating (income) expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Net currency losses on unhedged 
foreign currency positions totaled $1.7 million, $1.1 million and $0.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

(n) Translation of Foreign Currencies 

We determined the functional currency of each subsidiary based on a number of factors, including the predominant currency for 
the subsidiary’s expenditures and the subsidiary’s borrowings. When the subsidiary’s local currency is considered its functional 
currency, we translate its financial statements to U.S. Dollars as follows: 
•	 Assets	and	liabilities	using	exchange	rates	in	effect	at	the	balance	sheet	date;	and	
•	 Statement	of	operations	accounts	at	average	exchange	rates	for	the	period.	

Adjustments from the translation process are presented in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. 

(o) Income Taxes 

Deferred income taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting and tax accounting, known as 
temporary differences. We record the tax effect of these temporary differences as deferred tax assets (generally items that can be 
used as a tax deduction or credit in future periods) and deferred tax liabilities (generally items that we received a tax deduction 
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for, but have not yet been recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations). We regularly review our deferred tax assets 
for realizability, taking into consideration all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical pre-tax and 
taxable income (losses), projected future pre-tax and taxable income (losses) and the expected timing of the reversals of existing 
temporary differences. In arriving at these judgments, the weight given to the potential effect of all positive and negative evidence is 
commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified. 

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), 
as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition 
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 

Under FIN 48, tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination 
by tax authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be 
realized upon ultimate settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits are tax benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet these 
recognition and measurement standards. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, uncertain tax positions were accounted for under either 
FASB Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” or FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” We believe 
that our income tax liabilities, including related interest, are adequate in relation to the potential for additional tax assessments. 
There is a risk, however, that the amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be materially different from the amounts 
previously included in our income tax expense and, therefore, could have a material impact on our tax provision, net income and 
cash flows. We review our liabilities quarterly, and we may adjust such liabilities due to proposed assessments by tax authorities, 
changes in facts and circumstances, issuance of new regulations or new case law, negotiations between tax authorities of different 
countries concerning our transfer prices, the resolution of entire audits, or the expiration of statutes of limitations. Adjustments are 
most likely to occur in the year during which major audits are closed. 

We repatriate a portion of the current year earnings of a certain subsidiary to the United States. We do not provide for U.S. income 
taxes on the remaining undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries which would be payable if the undistributed earnings 
were distributed to the U.S., as we consider those foreign earnings to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. We plan foreign 
remittance amounts based on projected cash flow needs as well as the working capital and long-term investment requirements of 
our foreign subsidiaries and our domestic operations. 

(p) Stock-Based Compensation 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“Opinion 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related 
interpretations. Accordingly, we generally recognized expense only when we granted options with a discounted exercise price. Any 
resulting compensation expense was recognized over the associated service period, which was generally the option vesting term. 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we provided pro forma disclosure amounts in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”), as if the fair value 
method defined by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) had been applied to our stock-based 
compensation. 

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), using the modified prospective transition method and therefore have 
not restated prior periods’ results. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 
31, 2006 included compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, 
January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123. Stock-based 
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted after December 31, 2005 is based on the grant-date fair value 
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize these compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture 
rate and recognize the compensation costs for only those shares expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
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period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term. With the adoption of SFAS 123R, we elected to recognize stock-
based compensation expense for all grants on or after January 1, 2006 on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the 
entire award for ratable awards. For awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, we will continue to calculate compensation expense by 
treating each vesting tranche as a separate award. We estimated the forfeiture rate for 2006 and 2007 taking into consideration our 
historical experience during the preceding four fiscal years. 

(q) Contingencies 

We record contingent liabilities when the amount can be reasonably estimated and the loss is probable. 

(r) Shipping and Handling 

Costs to ship products to customers are included in marketing and administration in the consolidated statements of operations. 
Amounts billed to customers, if any, to cover shipping and handling are included in net sales. Cost to ship products to customers 
were $10.9 million, $9.6 million and $9.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

(s) Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 
157”), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We have determined that 
the adoption of SFAS 157 will not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans” (“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit 
postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the 
year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income of a business entity. This requirement was effective and adopted 
during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of 
the date of its year-end statement of financial position. This requirement becomes effective for fiscal years ending after December 
15, 2008. We have not yet determined the impact the measurement date provision of SFAS 158 will have on our consolidated results 
of operations and financial condition. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”), which establishes principles and 
requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities 
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree, including the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in a 
business combination. The requirements of SFAS 141R are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on 
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment 
of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling 
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is 
sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in 
the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, this statement requires consolidated net income to be reported 
at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, 
on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the 
noncontrolling interest. The requirements of SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We have not yet determined the impact SFAS 160 will have on our consolidated results of 
operations and financial condition.
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(t) 2005 Adjustments 

Certain adjustments recorded in 2005 related to accounting errors from previous periods. The amount of such adjustments was not 
material to our consolidated results of operations for 2004 and prior periods, nor is the inclusion of the net expense in the results of 
operations for 2005 considered material. The effect of these adjustments on gross margin and net income was as follows: 

          Impact) Impact) 
          on Gross) on Net) 
2005 Prior Period Adjustments – increase (decrease)    Margin) Income)
Dollars in millions    

Income Taxes, net     $ 2.4) $(3.3) 
Other         (3.7) (2.3) 
Total         $(1.3) $(5.6)

Included in the Income Taxes, net are prior period adjustments, including a benefit of $6.5 million related to the portion of the 
interest on senior subordinated notes deductible for tax purposes, additional expense of $2.9 million (tax expense of $7.4 million 
offset by less depreciation expense and other adjustments) related to the U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“US 
GAAP”)	treatment	of	fixed	asset	basis	under	the	Korea	Asset	Revaluation	Law,	additional	expense	of	$6.0	million	associated	with	
non-qualified stock option deductions in prior periods (see Note 14), and additional expense of $0.9 million related to amended tax 
filings and reassessment of tax basis limitations. 

Included in Other are primarily adjustments to cost of goods sold and inventory of approximately $2.4 million for profit not 
previously eliminated from inventory for product shipped between operations and other adjustments that are not individually 
significant. 

3. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

We used the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value of derivative and other financial instruments at the 
relevant balance sheet date: 
•	 Short-term	financial	instruments	(cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments,	accounts	receivable	and	payable,	income	taxes	

payable, short-term borrowings, and accrued liabilities)—cost approximates fair value because of the short maturity period, 
except for short-term investments classified as trading and available for sale investments which are recorded at fair value, which 
is determined by available active and inactive market prices, traded prices for similar assets or fair value measurements based on 
pricing models. 

•	 Long-term	debt—fair	value	is	based	on	the	amount	of	future	cash	flows	associated	with	each	debt	instrument	discounted	at	our	
current borrowing rate for similar debt instruments of comparable terms. 

•	 Currency	forward	contracts—fair	value	is	measured	by	the	amount	that	would	have	been	paid	to	liquidate	and	repurchase	all	
open contracts. 

•	 Customer	warrant—	Determining	the	appropriate	fair	value	model	and	calculating	the	fair	value	of	the	warrant	require	the	
making of estimates and assumptions, including the customer’s stock price volatility, interest rate, dividends, marketability and 
expected return requirements. We used a lattice model to determine the warrant’s fair value. 

•	 Investment	in	equity	securities	—	Our	investment	in	equity	securities	consists	of	a	customer’s	common	stock	acquired	in	
connection with the execution of a long-term supply agreement. The fair value of the investment was determined based on the 
closing stock price on December 31, 2007 reduced by the estimated value of a regulatory restriction on sale. 
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Information on the estimated fair values of financial instruments as of December 31 is as follows: 

          Carrying) Estimated) 
          Amount) Fair Value)
Dollars in millions      

Currency forward contracts – net sell positions  
2007         $ 0.1) $ 0.1) 
2006           $ 0.2) $ 0.2) 
Warrant to acquire stock       
2007         $306.3) $306.3) 
2006                  $ 85.5) $ 85.5) 
Investment in equity securities       
2007         $ 12.4) $ 54.1) 
2006         $   2.4) $ 12.4) 
Long-term debt       
2007         $ 30.9) $ 31.8) 
2006         $ 34.4) $ 35.2)

The notional amount of our currency forward contracts was $41.7 million and $53.9 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. The notional amount of the warrant to acquire stock was $205.8 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

The stock price underlying the warrant as well as the stock price related to the investment in equity securities declined subsequent to 
December 31, 2007. Based on the closing stock prices on February 21, 2008, the warrant had an estimated value of approximately $93.4 
million and the investment in equity securities had an estimated fair value of approximately $31.3 million as of February 21, 2008.

4. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, were as follows:

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions    

Accumulated net translation adjustment     $36.1) $ 3.8) 
Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities      (4.3) —) 
Net actuarial loss, prior service credit, and transition obligation  
 (net of $0.3 and $6.2 tax in 2007 and 2006, respectively)    (2.0) (11.2)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    $29.8) $ (7.4)
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5. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments consist of the following: 

         Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized) 
         Gain/(Loss) Loss In other) 
         Recorded In Comprehensive) 
        Cost Earnings Income(1))  Fair Value)
Dollars in millions    

As of December 31, 2007        
Time deposits    $36.3 $ — $ —) $36.3) 
Available for sale securities:  
 Corporate debt securities   135.2 —  (1.0) 134.2) 
 Asset-backed securities   85.8 —  (1.0) 84.8) 
 Mortgage-backed securities   82.8 —  (2.3) 80.5) 
 Auction rate securities   111.7 — —) 111.7) 
 Beneficiary certificates   9.6 — —) 9.6)

         $461.4 $ — $(4.3)  $457.1)

As of December 31, 2006 
Time deposits    $ 38.5 $ — $ —) $ 38.5) 
Trading investments   9.0 0.5 —) 9.5) 
Available for sale investments:     
 Auction rate securities   10.0 — —) 10.0)

          $ 57.5 $0.5 $  —) $ 58.0)

(1) The fair value of investments with unrealized loss positions was $299.5 million. We evaluated the nature of these investments, current and expected future market conditions and the 
short duration of the impairments (all less than twelve months), and have concluded that such amounts were not “other-than-temporary.”

There were no realized gains or losses on available for sale securities in 2007, 2006 or 2005. 

Contractual maturities of our available for sale investments were as follows:
          Cost)  Fair Value)
Dollars in millions    

As of December 31, 2007        
Due in one year or less     $165.6) $165.3) 
Due after one year     92.7) 92.0) 
No single maturity date(1)     166.8) 163.5)
           $425.1) $420.8)

(1) Securities with no single maturity date include mortgage- and asset-backed securities.

6. CREDIT CONCENTRATION 

Our customers include semiconductor device and solar cell manufacturers and are located in various geographic regions including 
North America, Europe, Japan and the Asia Pacific region. Our customers are generally well capitalized, and the concentration of 
credit risk is considered minimal. Sales to two customers accounted for greater than 10% of our net sales, specifically 13.1% and 
10.2%, in 2007. In 2005, we had only one customer comprising over 10% of our sales at 13.7%. In 2006, there were no customers 
that comprised 10% or greater of our sales.
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7. INVENTORIES 

Inventories consist of the following: 

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions    

Raw materials and supplies     $16.2) $15.0) 
Goods in process     6.1) 28.2) 
Finished goods     14.1) 37.0)
           $36.4) $80.2)

At December 31, 2007, we had $8.4 million of inventory held on consignment, compared to $6.0 million at December 31, 2006. 

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following: 

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions

Land         $ 6.0) $ 5.5) 
Buildings and improvements     133.3) 128.0) 
Machinery and equipment     795.0) 639.3)
           934.3) 772.8) 
Less accumulated depreciation     (377.0) (299.7)
          557.3) 473.1) 
Construction in progress     276.7) 130.4)
          $ 834.0) $ 603.5)

9. TEXAS PACIFIC GROUP TRANSACTIONS 

In November 2001, TPG acquired a beneficial ownership of approximately 72% of the outstanding stock of MEMC. In February 2005, 
TPG sold 65.6 million common shares in a public offering, reducing its beneficial ownership to approximately 34%. Additionally, a 
secondary offering by the investor group led by TPG of 18.3 million shares was completed in August 2005. The shares offered included 
all of the remaining shares on the resale shelf registration statement filed in February 2004, including 10.0 million shares acquired by 
TPG upon the exercise of warrants issued in 2001, further reducing TPG’s beneficial ownership to approximately 25%. This reduction 
in beneficial ownership constituted a change of control under the U.S. tax rules. 

In November 2006, TPG sold 19.5 million shares in a privately negotiated sale, an additional 20 million shares of common stock in a 
privately negotiated sale in February 2007 and an additional 12 million shares in a privately negotiated sale in May 2007. In October 
2007 and November 2007, all remaining warrants to purchase our common stock were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting in 
the issuance of approximately 4.5 million shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2007, TPG’s beneficial ownership of our 
common stock and warrants had been reduced to zero.
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10. SHORT-TERM BORROWING AGREEMENTS 

There were no short-term borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006. We have short-term committed loan 
agreements of approximately $50.4 million at December 31, 2007, which are renewable annually. Of the $50.4 million committed 
short-term loan agreements, $11.6 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance of third party letters of credit. Interest 
rates are negotiated at the time of the borrowings.

11. LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt consists of the following: 

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions    

Long-term notes with interest payable semi-annually at rates ranging from 2.1% to 2.9%,  
 due in 2009 through 2017     $30.9) $34.4) 
Less current portion       (5.3)  (5.0)
             $25.6) $29.4)

On July 21, 2005, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with National City Bank of the Midwest (National City 
Bank), US Bank National Association, and such other lending institutions as may from time to time become lenders (the National 
City Agreement). The National City Agreement was amended on December 20, 2006 to reduce the commitment fee and the 
interest spread on loans bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBOR rate. Additionally, our obligations and the 
guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured by a pledge of the capital stock of certain of our domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries. The National City Agreement provides for a $200.0 million revolving credit facility and has a term of five years. Interest 
on borrowings under the National City Agreement will be payable based on the Company’s election at LIBOR plus an applicable 
margin (currently 0.34%) or at a defined prime rate plus an applicable margin (currently 0.00%). The National City Agreement also 
provides for us to pay various fees, including a commitment fee (currently 0.08%) on the lenders’ commitments. The National City 
Agreement contains covenants typical for credit arrangements of comparable size, such as minimum earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization and an interest coverage ratio. Our obligations under the National City Agreement are guaranteed by 
certain of our subsidiaries.

Long-term debt at December 31, 2007 totaling $30.9 million owed to a bank by our Japanese subsidiary is guaranteed by us and is 
secured by the land, buildings and machinery and equipment of our Japanese subsidiary. These loans mature in years ranging from 
2009 to 2017. Such guarantees would require us to satisfy the loan obligations in the event that the Japanese subsidiary failed to pay 
such debt in accordance with its stated terms. 

We have long-term committed loan agreements of approximately $270.6 million at December 31, 2007, of which $30.9 million is 
outstanding. Of the $270.6 million committed long-term loan agreements, which fully expire beginning 2007 and ending 2017, 
$112.3 million is unavailable as it relates to the issuance of third party letters of credit. We pay commitment fees of up to 0.08 
percent on the committed loan agreements. 
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The aggregate amounts of long-term debt maturing after December 31, 2007 are as follows: 

Dollars in millions  

2008          $ 5.3) 
2009          4.9) 
2010          3.4) 
2011          2.6) 
2012          2.6) 
Thereafter        12.1)
            $30.9)

12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Preferred Stock 

We have 50.0 million authorized shares of $.01 par value preferred stock and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006. The Board of Directors is authorized, without further action by the stockholders, to issue any or all of the preferred stock. 

Warrants 

Pursuant to the 2001 TPG Restructuring Agreement, TPG received warrants to purchase 16.7 million shares of our common stock. 
We recorded the warrants at their aggregate fair market value of less than one dollar. The warrants were exercisable at an exercise 
price of $3.00 per share of common stock and expire on November 13, 2011. In 2005, TPG exercised 10.0 million warrants on 
a cashless basis, resulting in the retirement of 2.0 million additional warrants held by TPG which were used as payment for the 
exercise price. In 2007, all remaining warrants to purchase our common stock were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting in the 
issuance of approximately 4.5 million shares of our common stock.

Common Stock 

Holders of our $.01 par value common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of 
stockholders. Subject to the rights of any holders of preferred stock, holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably such 
dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our 
common stock are entitled to share ratably in the distribution of all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to the rights 
of any holders of preferred stock. The declaration and payment of future dividends on our common stock, if any, will be at the 
sole discretion of the Board of Directors and is subject to restrictions as contained in the National City Agreement. There were no 
dividends declared or paid during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

On May 16, 2007, our Board of Directors approved a $500.0 million stock repurchase program. The stock repurchase program 
allows MEMC to purchase common stock from time to time on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions using 
available cash. The specific timing and amount of repurchases will vary based on market conditions and other factors. The stock 
repurchase program may be modified, extended or terminated by the Board of Directors at any time. From the inception of the 
program in mid June through December 31, 2007, we have repurchased 1.8 million shares of our common stock at a total cost of 
$111.2 million. During January 2008, we repurchased 1.1 million shares of our common stock at a total cost of $78.6 million. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

We have equity incentive plans that provide for the award of non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, performance shares, and 
restricted stock units to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants. We issue new shares to satisfy stock option exercises. 
As of December 31, 2007, there were 9.8 million shares authorized for future grant under these plans. 
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Options to employees are generally granted upon hire and semi-annually or annually, usually with four-year ratable vesting, 
although certain grants have three, four or five-year cliff vesting. In addition, one million options were granted in 2006 with a 
market condition requiring that, at the end of a four-year term, if MEMC’s common stock price outperforms the S&P 500 market 
index by a specified amount over that four-year period, the options would vest. These options also provide for an early vesting of 
400,000 of these options at the end of three years if MEMC’s common stock price outperforms the S&P 500 market index by a 
specified amount over the three-year period. No option has a term of more than 10 years. 

The exercise price of stock options granted has historically equaled the market price on the date of the grant except as noted below. 
As discussed in Note 2(p), we adopted SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006. Prior to this date, we accounted for stock options under 
Opinion 25. Under the provision of Opinion 25, there was no recorded expense related to grants of stock options. Once exercisable, 
the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date we granted the option. 

In 2002, certain stock options were granted at exercise prices less than the market price on the date of grant. These options were either 
immediately vested or vested over two to four years. Since these options were issued below the market price of our common stock  
on the date of issuance, compensation expense was recognized for the intrinsic value of the options of approximately $12.8 million  
and the expense was recognized based on graded vesting. Compensation expense related to these stock options was $0.1 million and 
$0.5 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. There was no expense related to these stock options in 2007.

The following table presents information regarding outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2007 and changes during the year 
then ended with regard to stock options:

         Weighted-) Aggregate Average) 
          Average) Intrinsic) Remaining) 
         Exercise) Value) Contractual) 
        Shares) Price) (in millions)) Life)
Beginning of year   10,629,814) $20.53) 
Granted      1,777,633) 56.21) 
Exercised     (3,430,743) 12.88) 
Forfeited       (331,401) 23.39) 
Expired      (1,706) 11.17)
End of year     8,643,597) $30.72) $499.3) 8 years)
Options exercisable at year-end   787,206) $14.53) $ 58.2) 6 years)

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between our closing stock 
price on the last trading day of 2007 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have 
been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2007. This amount changes 
based on the fair market value of our stock. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $159.9 million, $46.0 million and 
$42.7 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Cash received from option exercises under option plans was $44.2 million,  
$17.1 million and $14.8 million and the actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises was $40.3 million, 
$14.8 million and $21.2 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

We routinely examine our assumptions used in estimating the fair value of employee options granted. As part of this assessment, 
we have determined that our historical stock price volatility and historical pattern of option exercises are appropriate indicators 
of expected volatility and expected term. The interest rate is determined based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. 
Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the award. We estimate the fair value of options 
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using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for our ratable and cliff vesting options. For the 2006 market condition awards, a 
lattice binomial model was used. Our weighted-average assumptions are as follows:

         Lattice 
        Black-Scholes%) Binomial
         2007)% 2006)% 2005%) 2006%)
Risk-free interest rate   4.6%) 4.7%) 3.9%) 4.7%) 
Expected stock price volatility   50.5%) 64.9%) 102.1%) 63.5%) 
Expected term until exercise (years)   4%) 4%) 4%) 5%) 
Expected dividends    0.0%) 0.0%) 0.0%) 0.0%)

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted was $25.34, $18.47 and $10.29 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2007, $66.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is expected to 
be recognized over a weighted-average period of two years. 

Restricted stock units represent the right to receive a share of MEMC stock at a designated time in the future, provided the stock 
unit is vested at the time. Restricted stock units granted to non-employee directors generally vest over a two-year period from the 
grant date. Restricted stock units granted to employees have ratable or cliff vesting and certain grants are subject to performance 
conditions established at the time of grant. Recipients of restricted stock units do not pay any cash consideration for the restricted 
stock units or the underlying shares, and do not have the right to vote or have any other rights of a shareholder until such time as 
the underlying shares of stock are distributed. The following table presents information regarding outstanding restricted stock units 
as of December 31, 2007 and changes during the year then ended:

          Aggregate Average) 
          Restricted) Intrinsic) Remaining) 
          Stock) Value) Contractual) 
          Units) (in millions))  Life)
Beginning of year    141,100) 
Granted       91,500) 
Converted      (6,562))
End of year      226,038) $20.0) 2 years)

At December 31, 2007, there were no restricted stock units which were convertible. As of December 31, 2007, $2.2 million of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
approximately one year. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock units on the date of grant was $48.91 and $39.95 in 
2007 and 2006, respectively. There were no restricted stock units granted in 2005. We recorded compensation expense related to 
restricted stock units of $1.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.1 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we presented the tax benefit of stock option exercises as operating cash flows. Upon the 
adoption of SFAS 123R, tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the tax benefit related to compensation cost 
recognized for those options will now be classified as financing cash flows. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we 
recognized $40.0 million and $10.5 million of excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements as a cash inflow in 
financing activities. 
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Stock-based compensation expense recorded for the years ended December 31 was allocated as follows:

          2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions 

Cost of goods sold    $ 4.7) $ 4.3) $ —) 
Marketing and administration    25.1) 13.1) 2.1) 
Research and development    1.4) 1.4) —) 
Stock-based employee compensation before related tax effects   31.2) 18.8) 2.1) 
Less: Income tax benefit    11.1) 6.9) 0.8)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of related tax effects   $20.1) $11.9) $1.3)

The amount of stock-based compensation cost capitalized into inventory at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $0.1 million and  
$0.3 million. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006, stock-based compensation costs were not capitalized. 

The following table provides pro forma net income and earnings per share had we applied the fair value method of SFAS 123: 

           2005)
In millions, except per share data 

Net income allocable to common stockholders, as reported     $249.4) 
Add:     
Stock-based employee compensation included in reported net income,  
 net of related tax effects      1.3) 
Deduct:     
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value  
 based method for all awards, net of related tax effects     (12.6)
Pro forma net income allocable to common stockholders     $238.1) 
Income per share:     
 Basic—as reported      $ 1.17) 
 Basic—pro forma      $ 1.12) 
 Diluted—as reported      $ 1.10) 
 Diluted—pro forma      $ 1.05)
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13. INCOME PER SHARE 

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) were calculated as follows: 

      2007 2006 2005
      Basic) Diluted) Basic) Diluted) Basic) Diluted)
In millions, except per share amounts

EPS Numerator:  
Net income allocable to  
 common stockholders  $826.2) $826.2) $369.3) $369.3) $249.4) $249.4) 
EPS Denominator:  
Weighted-average  
 shares outstanding  225.6) 225.6) 222.1) 222.1) 213.5) 213.5) 
Stock options and  
 restricted stock units  —)   3.1) —)  3.3) —)  2.9) 
Warrants    —)   3.6) —)  4.3) —)   10.0)
Total shares   225.6) 232.3) 222.1) 229.7) 213.5) 226.4) 
Earnings per share  $ 3.66) $ 3.56) $ 1.66) $ 1.61) $ 1.17) $ 1.10)

In 2007, 2006, and 2005, options and restricted stock units to purchase 1.0 million, 1.9 million and 0.7 million, respectively, of 
MEMC stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because the effect was antidilutive.

14. INCOME TAXES 

Income before income taxes, equity in loss of joint venture and minority interests consists of the following: 

 For the year ended December 31, 
         2007)  2006)  2005) 
Dollars in millions      

U.S.        $ 465.5) $321.9) $113.8) 
Foreign       646.3) 268.6) 138.6)
          $1,111.8) $590.5) $252.4)
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Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following: 

         Current) Deferred) Total)
Dollars in millions

Year ended December 31, 2007: 
 U.S. Federal    $150.9) $ 2.7) $153.6) 
 State and local    (0.6)  0.7) 0.1) 
 Foreign      113.6) 14.9) 128.5)
         $263.9) $ 18.3) $282.2)
Year ended December 31, 2006: 
 U.S. Federal    $ 84.7) $ 28.0) $112.7) 
 State and local    5.8) 1.9) 7.7) 
 Foreign      80.5) 13.9) 94.4)
          $171.0) $ 43.8) $214.8)
Year ended December 31, 2005: 
 U.S. Federal    $ (14.6) $(56.0) $ (70.6) 
 State and local    4.2) 10.5) 14.7) 
 Foreign      33.9) 19.2) 53.1)
         $ 23.5) $(26.3) $ (2.8)

Effective Tax Rate. Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal income tax rate 
of 35% to income before income taxes, equity in loss of joint venture and minority interests as a result of the following: 

 For the year ended December 31, 
         2007%)  2006%)  2005%)
Income tax at federal statutory rate    35.0%) 35.0%) 35.0%) 
Increase (reduction) in income taxes:  
 Change in the valuation allowance for deferred tax asset   —%)  —%) (26.6)% 
 Effect of foreign operations and repatriation    (8.4)% (0.2)% (3.7)% 
 State income taxes, net of Federal benefit    0.5%) 0.9%) 1.1)% 
 Reassessment of reserves due to change in estimate   0.4%) 0.1%) (11.7)% 
 Reassessment of rate due to change in estimate   (0.2)% 0.7%) 4.1)% 
 Prior period adjustments    —%)  0.2%) 3.1)% 
 Other, net     (1.9)% (0.3)% (2.4)%
Effective tax rate     25.4%) 36.4%) (1.1)%
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The “Change in the valuation allowance for deferred tax asset” relates to movement in the valuation allowance against deferred tax 
assets for domestic temporary differences and tax credits, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards, and other foreign deferred 
tax assets. We evaluate all significant available positive and negative evidence, including the existence of losses in recent years and our 
forecast of future taxable income, in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. The underlying assumptions we used in forecasting 
future taxable income require significant judgment and take into account our recent financial performance. Based upon this analysis, 
the valuation allowance of $67.1 million was reversed in 2005, bringing the total valuation allowance to zero. 

The “Effect of foreign operations and repatriation” includes the net reduced taxation of foreign profits combining jurisdictions with 
rates above and below the U.S. federal statutory rate. It also includes the impact of withholding taxes. For 2007, the net decrease 
represents a benefit of $23.4 million associated with the U.S. foreign tax credit offset by an increase in expense of $29.1 million 
related to dividends and foreign withholding taxes. Additionally, a benefit of $77.3 million was recognized in relation to a non-
taxable gain on warrant income. For 2006, the net decrease represents a benefit of $16.9 million associated with the U.S. foreign 
tax credit offset by an increase in expense of $15.8 million related to dividends and foreign withholding taxes. For 2005, the net 
decrease of $9.4 million represents reductions of $12.5 million associated with the U.S. foreign tax credit, $6.7 million of foreign 
taxes below U.S. statutory rates, and increases of $4.6 million in foreign withholding taxes, $2.3 million related to the recognition of 
certain additional U.S. residual income tax that is expected to be imposed upon a distribution of unremitted foreign earnings, and 
$2.8 million in liabilities established for potential transfer pricing and other issues. 

The “Reassessment of reserves due to change in estimate” in 2007 and 2006 primarily relate to accrued interest and in 2005 relates to 
an increase in our estimate of our allowable depreciation deductions totaling $22.4 million, a benefit of $6.0 million related to prior 
year U.S. tax return amendments to elect foreign tax credits net of previously taken deductions for foreign taxes and a decrease of 
$1.2 million of other changes in estimate. 

The “Prior period adjustments” in 2006 relates primarily to recording additional expense for state net operating losses net of federal 
benefit and in 2005 included a benefit of $6.5 million related to the portion of the interest on senior subordinated notes deductible for 
tax purposes for which a liability had been recorded, additional tax expense of $7.4 million related to the US GAAP treatment of fixed 
asset	basis	difference	under	the	Korea	Asset	Revaluation	Law,	additional	expense	of	$6.0	million	associated	with	non-qualified	stock	
option deductions which had been recorded as a reduction to income tax expense in prior periods, and additional expense of $0.9 
million related to amended tax filings and reassessment of tax basis limitations. 

The “Reassessment of rate due to change in estimate” for 2007 includes approximately $1.8 million additional benefit related to a 
Texas law change and the computation of the net operating loss credit carryforward. In 2006 this item includes approximately  
$3.9 million additional expense related to a Texas tax law change and in 2005 includes approximately $6.3 million of expense related 
to a change in the blended state tax rate expected to apply to reversing temporary differences in future periods due to changes in 
expected apportionment ratios and other factors as well as state net operating losses of $4.0 million that expired as a result of a 
merger in 2005 for tax purposes. 

Uncertain Tax Positions. Unrecognized tax benefits are tax benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet the recognition 
and measurement standards outlined in FIN 48. As a result of the adoption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, we recorded an 
increase in retained earnings and a decrease in other long-term liabilities of $0.5 million for uncertain tax positions. The total 
amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal, state and local deductions, at the date of adoption was $49.2 million, all 
of which would favorably affect our effective tax rate if recognized. Uncertain tax benefits are included as a component of 
other long-term liabilities because we do not anticipate that settlement of the liabilities will require payment of cash within the 
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next twelve months. At December 31, 2007, we have $95.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal, state and local 
deductions, associated with open tax years 2001 through 2006 for which we are subject to audit in various federal, state and 
foreign jurisdictions. The current period change to the reserve is related to the deductibility of interest on senior subordinated 
notes stemming from the partial acquisition of common shares by TPG and subsequent debt restructuring, refinements of our 
positions related to the TPG acquisition from 2001 and other worldwide tax items. The entire amount would favorably affect our 
effective tax rate if recognized. In the second quarter of 2007, the IRS commenced an audit of our 2004 and 2005 tax years. As of 
December 31, 2007, the IRS has proposed adjustments that management is currently evaluating. In the event of an unfavorable 
outcome, this liability could be reduced by a potential payment of approximately $20.6 million within the next twelve months. 
We have already accrued for this liability.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

           (in millions) )

Balance at January 1, 2007      $51.0) 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year     1.0) 
Additions for tax positions of prior years       45.1) 
Balance at December 31, 2007      $97.1)

The total amount of accrued interest and penalties at the date of adoption was $0.5 million and is included in other long-term 
liabilities. The accrual of interest begins in the first reporting period that interest would begin to accrue under the tax law. Penalties, 
when applicable, are accrued in the financial reporting period in which the uncertain tax position is taken on a tax return. We 
recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense, which is consistent with our historical 
policy. During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Company recognized approximately $3.2 million in interest and penalties and 
had approximately $3.7 million accrued at December 31, 2007 for the payment of interest and penalties. 

Deferred Taxes. The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities are:

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
Dollars in millions

Deferred tax assets: 
 Inventories      $ 1.6) $ 5.6) 
 Expense accruals     21.3) 21.4) 
 Property, plant and equipment     51.3) 65.6) 
 Pension, medical and other employee benefits     17.0) 22.4) 
 Net operating loss carryforwards – state and foreign    3.3) 3.9) 
 Capitalized R&D     7.5) 8.6) 
 Other        0.1) 5.9)
  Total deferred tax assets     102.1) 133.4)
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Other        (0.8) (2.0)
  Total deferred tax liabilities      (0.8) (2.0)
  Net deferred tax assets     $101.3) $131.4)
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Our deferred tax assets and liabilities, netted by taxing location, are in the following captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheets: 

 As of December 31, 
          2007)  2006)
 Dollars in millions

Current deferred tax assets, net (recorded in prepaids and other current assets)   $ 12.0) $ 11.9) 
Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net     89.3) 119.5)
           $101.3) $131.4)

At December 31, 2007, the Company had a $3.3 million deferred tax asset for state income tax loss and credit carryforwards. These 
carryforwards are scheduled to expire between 2022 and 2026 if unused. Of these, $1.0 million will expire in 2022 and $2.3 million 
in 2026. 

Federal and state income taxes have not been provided on accumulated but undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
aggregating approximately $945.8 million and $437.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, as such earnings have 
been permanently reinvested in the business. The determination of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to 
the undistributed earnings is not practicable. 

15. EMPLOYEE-RELATED LIABILITIES 

Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans 

Prior to January 2, 2002, our defined benefit pension plan covered most U.S. employees. Benefits for this plan were based on 
years of service and qualifying compensation during the final years of employment. Effective January 2, 2002, we amended our 
defined benefit plan to discontinue future benefit accruals for certain participants. In addition, effective January 2, 2002, no new 
participants will be added to the plan. 

We also have a non-qualified plan under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. This plan provides benefits in 
addition to the defined benefit plan. Eligibility for participation in this plan requires coverage under the defined benefit plan and 
other specific circumstances. The non-qualified plan has also been amended to discontinue future benefit accruals. 

Prior to January 1, 2002, our health care plan provided postretirement medical benefits to full-time U.S. employees who met 
minimum age and service requirements. The plan is contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted annually, and contains 
other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. Effective January 1, 2002, we amended our health care plan to 
discontinue eligibility for postretirement medical benefits for certain participants. In addition, effective January 2, 2002, no new 
participants will be eligible for postretirement medical benefits under the plan. During 2006, a negative plan amendment was 
recorded related to the clarification of contributions to be paid by MEMC, resulting in the recording of approximately $11.6 million 
of unrecognized prior service credit. This credit will be amortized to income using the straight-line method over the remaining life 
expectancy of those participants. 

In July 2005, approximately 88% of eligible employees of our Taiwan subsidiary elected to opt out of their defined benefit pension 
plan into a new defined contribution plan, creating a one-time curtailment loss of $0.5 million. 
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We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS 158”) as of December 31, 2006, except for the change in measurement date provisions. SFAS 158 
requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or 
liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur 
through comprehensive income. As a result of the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31, 2006, 
we reclassified $10.3 million from accrued liabilities to pension and post-employment liabilities because we had pension assets 
exceeding the expected beneficiary payments in 2007. In addition, we reclassified $11.5 million of unrecognized prior service credit 
and net unrealized gains from the pension and post-employment liabilities to accumulated other comprehensive income, which 
reduced our recorded liabilities.

Net periodic benefit cost consists of the following:

       Pension Plans  Health Care and Other Plans 
Year ended December 31, 2007) 2006) 2005) 2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions 

Service cost   $ 3.3) $ 3.5) $ 3.7) $ 0.1) $ 0.3) $ 0.4) 
Interest cost  9.8) 9.4) 9.3) 1.6) 2.3) 2.5) 
Expected return on plan assets (9.4) (8.5) (7.5) —)  —)  —)  
Amortization of prior service cost —) —)  —)   (0.5) —)  —)  
Net actuarial (gain) loss 1.8) 2.1) 1.7) (0.9) (0.6) (0.6) 
Settlement and curtailment charges 0.1) —)  0.5) —)  —)  —)
 Net periodic benefit cost $ 5.6) $ 6.5) $ 7.7) $ 0.3) $ 2.0) $ 2.3)

We use a measurement date of September 30 to determine pension and other postretirement and post-employment benefit 
measurements for the plans. 

The following is a table of actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost: 

       Pension Plans  Health Care and Other Plans 
Year ended December 31, 2007% 2006% 2005% 2007% 2006% 2005)
Weighted-average assumptions: 
 Discount rate 5.75% 5.50% 5.75% 5.75% 5.50% 5.75% 
 Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% NA% NA% NA% 
 Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 4.00% 4.50% 3.75% 4.00% 4.50%  
 Current medical cost trend rate NA% NA% NA% 7.25% 7.25% 8.25% 
 Ultimate medical cost trend rate NA% NA% NA% 5.25% 5.25% 5.25% 
 Year the rate reaches  
  ultimate trend rate NA% NA% NA% 2009% 2008% 2008%
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The following summarizes the change in benefit obligation, change in plan assets, and funded status of the plans: 

         Health Care  
      Pension Plans and Other Plans 
Year ended December 31,    2007) 2006) 2007) 2006)
Dollars in millions

Change in benefit obligation:  
 Benefit obligation at beginning of year   $180.4) $179.6) $ 29.0) $ 43.3) 
 Service cost    3.3) 3.5) 0.1) 0.3) 
 Interest cost   9.8) 9.4) 1.7) 2.3) 
 Plan participants’ contributions   —)  —)  2.5) 2.1) 
 Actuarial (gain) loss   (7.4) (2.0) 1.1) (1.3) 
 Gross benefits paid   (12.6) (10.1) (5.7) (6.3) 
 Less: Federal subsidy on benefits paid   —)  —)  —)  0.2) 
 Plan amendment   —)  —)  —)  (11.6) 
 Settlements     (0.2) —)  —)  —)  
 Currency exchange loss   0.6) —)  —)  —) 
Benefit obligation at end of year   $173.9) $180.4) $ 28.7) $ 29.0)
Change in plan assets:  
 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year   $119.2) $105.0) $ —)  $ —)  
 Actual return on plan assets   17.8) 8.6) —)  —)  
 Employer contributions   12.9) 15.7) 3.2) 4.0) 
 Plan participants’ contributions   —)  —)  2.5) 2.1) 
 Gross benefits paid   (12.6) (10.1) (5.7) (6.3) 
 Less: Federal subsidy on benefits paid   —) —)   —) 0.2) 
 Settlements    (0.2) —)  —)   —) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $137.1) $119.2) $ —)  $ —) 
Unfunded status   $ (36.8) $ (61.2) $(28.7) $(29.0) 
Contributions after measurement date   0.4) 0.9) 0.8) 0.9)
Net amount recognized   $ (36.4) $ (60.3) $(27.9) $(28.1)
Amounts recognized in statement of financial position:         
 Accrued liabilities, current   $ (0.8) $ (1.3) $(2.9) $ (1.9) 
 Pension and post-employment liabilities   (35.6) (59.0) (25.0) (26.2)
Net amount recognized   $ (36.4) $ (60.3) $(27.9) $(28.1)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (before tax):

         Health Care  
      Pension Plans and Other Plans 
Year ended December 31,    2007) 2006) 2007) 2006)
Dollars in millions

Net actuarial (gain) loss   $18.8) $36.4) $ (5.5) $ (7.5) 
Prior service (credit) cost   —)  —)  (11.1) (11.6) 
Transition (asset) obligation   —)  0.1) —)  —)
Net amount recognized   $18.8) $36.5) $(16.6) $(19.1)
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The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2008 
are as follows: 

          ) Health Care and ) 
          Pension Plans) Other Plans)
Dollars in millions

Actuarial (gain) loss     $0.4) $(0.8) 
Prior service (credit) cost     —) (0.5) 
Transition (asset) obligation     —) —)
           $0.4) $(1.3)

The following is a table of the actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation: 

         Health Care  
      Pension Plans and Other Plans 
Year ended December 31,    2007% 2006%) 2007% 2006)
Weighted-average assumptions:         
 Discount rate   6.15% 5.75%) 6.00% 5.75% 
 Rate of compensation increase   3.75% 3.75%) 3.75% 3.75% 
 Current medical cost trend rate   NA% NA%) 8.00% 7.25% 
 Ultimate medical cost trend rate   NA% NA%) 5.00% 5.25% 
 Year the rate reaches ultimate trend rate   NA% NA%) 2013% 2008%

Pension plan assets are invested primarily in marketable securities including common stocks, bonds and interest-bearing deposits. 
The weighted-average allocation of pension benefit plan assets at September 30 was: 

         Target 
         Allocation Actual Allocation
Asset Category    %) 2007%) 2006)
Equity securities    20-65%) 65%) 61% 
Fixed income securities    20-75%) 31%) 29% 
All other      0-20%) 4%) 10%
Total          100%) 100%
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The investment objectives of our pension plan assets are as follows: 
•	 To	achieve	a	favorable	relative	return	as	compared	with	inflation;	
•	 To	achieve	an	above	average	total	rate	of	return	relative	to	capital	markets;	
•	 Preservation	of	capital	through	a	broad	diversification	among	asset	classes	which	react,	as	nearly	as	possible,	independently	to	
varying	economic	and	market	circumstances;	and	

•	 Long-term	growth,	with	a	degree	of	emphasis	on	stable	growth,	rather	than	short-term	capital	gains.	

Our pension expense and pension liability are actuarially determined, and we use various actuarial assumptions, including the 
discount rate, rate of salary increase, and expected return on assets to estimate our pension costs and obligations. We determine 
the expected return on plan assets based on our pension plans’ actual asset mix as of the beginning of the year. The expected 
investment return assumption used for the pension plans reflects what the plans can reasonably expect to earn over a long-term 
period considering plan target allocations. The expected return includes an inflation assumption and adds real returns for the asset 
mix and a premium for active management, and subtracts expenses. While the assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 
2007 was 8.0%, the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in the comparable period in 2007 was 14.6%. We consult 
with the plans’ actuaries to determine a discount rate assumption for pension and other postretirement and post-employment plans 
that reflects the characteristics of our plans, including expected cash outflows from our plans, and utilize an analytical tool that 
incorporates the concept of a hypothetical yield curve, developed from corporate bond (Aa quality) yield information. 

Our pension obligations are funded in accordance with provisions of Federal law. Contributions to our pension and post-
employment plans in 2007 totaled $12.4 million and $3.1 million, respectively. We expect contributions to our pension and post-
employment plans in 2008 to be approximately $9.1 million and $3.0 million, respectively. 

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with an accumulated 
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets were as follows:

            
         Pension Plans 
           2007) 2006)
Dollars in millions

Projected benefit obligation, end of year     $173.9) $180.4) 
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year     $163.4) $171.1) 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year     $137.1) $119.2)

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. A 1% change in the 
medical trend rate would have the following effects at December 31, 2007: 

           1% Increase) 1% Decrease)
Dollars in millions    

Total service and interest cost components     $0.1) $(0.1) 
Postretirement benefit obligation     0.7) (0.7)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



52 | MEMC 2007 ANNUAL REPORT | TECHNOLOGY IS BUILT ON US 

We estimate that the future benefits payable for the pension and other postretirement plans are as follows: 

          ) Health Care and ) 
          Pension Plans) Other Plans)
Dollars in millions

2008         $9.8) $3.0) 
2009         10.1) 2.9) 
2010         11.4) 2.8) 
2011         12.3) 2.8) 
2012         13.2) 2.8) 
2013-2017       77.7) 12.5)

Defined Contribution Plans 

We sponsor a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering all U.S. salaried and hourly 
employees, and a defined contribution plan in Taiwan covering most salaried and hourly employees of our Taiwan subsidiary. Our 
costs included in results of operations totaled $5.6 million, $5.4 million and $4.5 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Other Employee-Related Liabilities 

Employees	of	our	subsidiaries	in	Italy	and	Korea	are	covered	by	an	end	of	service	entitlement	that	provides	payment	upon	
termination of employment. Contributions to these plans are based on statutory requirements and are not actuarially determined. 
The accrued liability was $35.1 million at December 31, 2007 and $34.9 million at December 31, 2006, and is included in other 
long-term liabilities and accrued wages and salaries on our balance sheet. The accrued liability is based on the vested benefits to 
which the employee is entitled assuming employee termination at the measurement date. 

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Leases and Purchase Obligations 

We lease buildings, equipment and automobiles under operating leases. Rental expense was $5.2 million, $5.3 million and $5.3 million 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The total future commitment under operating leases as of December 31, 2007 was $13.1 million, 
of which $11.9 million is noncancellable. Our operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2007 were as follows: 

        Payments Due By Period 
      Total) 2008) 2009) 2010) 2011) 2012) Thereafter)
Dollars in millions 

Operating Leases $13.1) $4.3) $3.0) $2.0) $1.7) $1.6) $0.5)

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others in 
our sales contracts with these customers. Historically, we have not paid any claims under these indemnification obligations and we 
do not have any pending indemnification claims.
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Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. Although it is not possible to predict 
the outcome of these matters, we believe that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not 
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows or results of operations. 

17. GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS 

We are engaged in one reportable segment – the design, manufacture and sale of silicon wafers. 

Geographic financial information is as follows: 

Net Sales to Customers: 

          2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions

United States     $ 462.0) $ 521.3) $ 344.1) 
Foreign       1,459.8) 1,019.3) 763.3)
 Total       $1,921.8) $1,540.6) $1,107.4)

Foreign revenues were derived from sales to the following countries: 

          2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions

China       $ 405.0) $ 218.1) $ 37.2) 
Japan        94.5) 74.7) 91.9) 
Korea		 	 	 	 	 	 	 299.7) 188.1) 184.2) 
Taiwan       324.9) 273.4) 225.4) 
Other foreign countries    335.7) 265.0) 224.6)
 Total       $1,459.8) $1,019.3) $763.3)

Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer. 

Our net sales attributable to polysilicon for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 22.5%, 18.5% and 9.6% as a 
percent of total sales, respectively. 

Long-Lived Assets, net of accumulated depreciation: 
          2007) 2006) 2005)
Dollars in millions      

United States     $351.9) $185.0) $159.3) 
Japan        162.1) 163.1) 176.8) 
Korea		 	 	 	 	 	 	 71.0) 65.1) 58.6) 
Taiwan       225.5) 175.6) 106.9) 
Other foreign countries    79.2) 69.9) 44.7)
 Total       $889.7) $658.7) $546.3)
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18. UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

         First) Second) Third) Fourth) 
2007       Quarter) Quarter) Quarter) Quarter)
Dollars in millions, except per share data 

Net sales      $440.4) $472.7) $472.8) $535.9) 
Gross margin    222.5) 245.6) 238.8) 293.6) 
Income before minority interests   136.1) 164.9) 151.2) 377.4) 
Minority interests   (1.4) (1.3) 0.3) (1.0) 
Net income     134.7) 163.6) 151.5) 376.4) 
Basic income per share   0.60) 0.73) 0.67) 1.65) 
Diluted income per share   0.58) 0.70) 0.65) 1.62) 
Market close stock prices: 
 High      63.60) 67.43) 63.64) 94.02) 
 Low      40.29) 54.09) 53.34) 59.17)

A gain/(loss) of $(1.1) million, $7.9 million, $9.3 million and $204.7 million was recorded to other nonoperating income in the 
quarters ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2007, respectively, due to the mark to market adjustment 
related to a warrant received from a customer in 2006 as discussed in Note 2(m) above.

         First) Second) Third) Fourth) 
2006       Quarter) Quarter) Quarter) Quarter) 
Dollars in millions, except per share data 

Net sales      $341.5) $370.5) $408.0) $420.6) 
Gross margin    132.7) 160.4) 192.6) 203.3) 
Income before minority interests   68.3) 83.3) 93.6) 130.5) 
Minority interests   (1.0) (1.4) (2.5) (1.5) 
Net income     67.3) 81.9) 91.1) 129.0) 
Basic income per share   0.30) 0.37) 0.41) 0.58) 
Diluted income per share   0.29) 0.36) 0.40) 0.56) 
Market close stock prices: 
 High      38.19) 48.75) 40.67) 43.55) 
 Low      23.40) 30.54) 27.21) 33.89)

A loss of $2.4 million and a gain of $21.3 million was recorded to other nonoperating income due to the mark to market adjustment 
related to a warrant received from a customer in the quarters ended September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2006, respectively as 
discussed in Note 2(m) above. 
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
Company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. We also have audited the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible 
for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also 
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of	the	company;	(2)	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	transactions	are	recorded	as	necessary	to	permit	preparation	of	financial	
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being	made	only	in	accordance	with	authorizations	of	management	and	directors	of	the	company;	and	(3)	provide	reasonable	
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 109” effective January 1, 2007.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (SFAS) No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” effective January 1, 2006.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” effective December 31, 2006, and the Company changed its method of 
quantifying errors in 2006. 

St. Louis, Missouri 
February 28, 2008
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(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We carried out an evaluation as of December 31, 2007, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based 
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007. 

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

As of December 31, 2007, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based upon the framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on management’s assessment utilizing these criteria, we believe that, as of 
December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. 

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the most recently completed fiscal 
quarter and year ended December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PRO CEDURES 
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MEMC

S&P 500

S&P 500 Semiconductor

Stock Price Performance Graph  
The graph at right compares 
cumulative total stockholder return 
with the cumulative total return 
(assuming reinvestment of dividends) 
of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 
500 Semiconductors Index. The 
information on the graph covers 
the period from December 31, 2002 
through December 31, 2007. The 
stock price performance shown on the 
graph is not necessarily indicative of 
future stock price performance. 

December 31,  2002) 2003) 2004) 2005) 2006) 2007)
MEMC    100) 127.08) 175.03) 292.87) 517.04) 1168.96) 
S&P 500 Index  100) 128.68) 142.69) 149.70) 173.34) 182.86) 
S&P 500 Semiconductors 100) 197.49) 156.24) 175.24) 159.62) 178.74)

Corporate Office 
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. 
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon) 
St. Peters, Missouri 63376 
(636) 474-5000 
www.memc.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar 
Computershare Investor Services, L.L.C. 
2 North LaSalle Street 
P.O. Box A3504 
Chicago, Illinois 60690-3504 
(312) 360-5433 
www.computershare.com

Stockholder Inquiries 
Inquiries regarding address corrections, 
lost certificates, changes of registration, 
stock certificate holdings and other 
stockholder account matters should 
be directed to MEMC’s transfer agent, 
Computershare Investor Services, L.L.C., 
at the address or phone number above.

Common Stock Listing 
MEMC’s common stock is traded on 
the New York Stock Exchange under 
the symbol “WFR”.  On December 
31, 2007, the Company had 282 
stockholders of record.

Form 10-K 
Stockholders may obtain a copy of 
MEMC’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K	and	related	financial	statement	
schedules for the year ended  
December 31, 2007, filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, 
by writing MEMC’s Investor Relations 
Department or by calling  
(636) 474-5000.

Certifications 
The New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) 
requires that our Chief Executive 
Officer file an annual certificate 
indicating that he is unaware of 
any violations of the NYSE listing 
standards.  This certification was 
executed without qualification by our 
Chief Executive Officer in May 2007 
and filed after our 2007 annual meeting 
of stockholders.  In addition, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer filed certifications with the SEC 
regarding the quality of our public 
disclosure.  These certifications can be 
found as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to our 
Form	10-K	for	the	fiscal	year	ended	
December 31, 2007.

Financial Information 
MEMC maintains a home page on the 
Internet at www.memc.com where 
we publish information, including 
earnings releases, other news releases 
and significant corporate disclosures.

Independent Auditors 
KPMG	LLP 
10 South Broadway, Suite 900 
St. Louis, Missouri  63102

Investor Relations 
Analyst and investor inquiries  
should be directed to:  
Bill Michalek  
Director, Investor Relations  
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.  
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon)  
St. Peters, Missouri 63376 
Tel: (636) 474-5000 
Fax: (636) 474-5158 
Email: invest@memc.com

STOCKHOLDERS INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John Marren
Chairman of the Board 
Partner 
Texas Pacific Group

Nabeel Gareeb
President and Chief Executive 
Officer

Peter Blackmore 
Executive Vice President  
Unisys Corporation 
(1, 3)

Robert J. Boehlke
Retired;	Former	Executive	Vice	
President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
KLA-Tencor 
(1, 2, 3)

C. Douglas Marsh
Retired;	Former	Vice	President	
Business Integration 
& US Institutional Investor Relations  
ASML US, Inc. 
(1, 2)

William E. Stevens
Chairman of the Board 
BBI Group, Inc. 
(2, 3)

Marshall Turner
Retired;	Former	Chairman	and	 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dupont Photomasks 
(1, 3)

James B. Williams
Partner 
Texas Pacific Group 
(1)

Committees 
(1) Compensation  
(2) Audit 
(3) Nominating and Corporate 
Governance

OFFICERS

Nabeel Gareeb
President and  
Chief Executive Officer

Kenneth H. Hannah
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

Sean Hunkler
Senior Vice President 
Manufacturing

John A. Kauffmann
Senior Vice President 
Sales and Marketing

Shaker Sadasivam
Senior Vice President 
Research and Development

Mignon Cabrera
Senior Vice President 
Human Resources

Mike Cheles
Vice President 
Information Technology and Chief 
Information Officer

Bradley D. Kohn
Vice President 
General Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary

RECONCILIATION OF GAAP EPS TO NON-GAAP EPS

       2007) 2006) 2005) 2004) 2003)
GAAP EPS    $3.56) $ 1.61) $ 1.10) $ 1.02) $0.53) 
Cash Tax Difference*  0.49) 0.45) (0.15) (0.28) 0.10)
Non-GAAP EPS  $4.05) $ 2.06) $ 0.95) $ 0.74) $0.63) 
Less: Warrants at Cash Tax Rate  0.80) 0.07) —) —) —)
Non-GAAP EPS Excluding Warrants  $3.25) $ 1.99) $ 0.95) $ 0.74) $0.63)

*Our estimated cash tax rate is the estimated tax payable on our tax returns as a percentage of estimated annual pre-tax book income.  The annual cash tax rate is estimated quarterly by 
reference to book taxable income and then taking into account temporary book/tax differences and any tax basis items reflected on our annual tax returns.  The company uses an estimated 
cash tax rate to adjust for the historical variation in the effective book tax rate associated with the reversal of valuation allowances, foreign tax credits and loss carry-forwards that are not 
tied to actual operating results, because the company believes that the cash tax rate provides a more transparent view of the company’s operating results.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
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St. Peters,  
Missouri

Sherman,  
Texas

Pasadena,  
Texas

Merano,  
Italy

Novara,  
Italy

Chonan,  
South Korea

Utsunomiya,  
Japan

Hsinchu, 
Taiwan

Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia

H I S T O R Y

2 0 0 7  M E M C  S A L E S  B Y  G E O G R A P H Y

1959 Monsanto Electronic Materials Company formed
1962 CZ silicon crystal process developed
1965 MEMC develops polishing process for silicon wafers
1966 First epi reactors installed at MEMC
1966 Scientists at MEMC begin developing  

zero-dislocation crystal
1975 First commercial production of 100mm wafers
1982 MEMC pioneers epi wafers for CMOS applications 
1984 Commercialized 200mm wafers
1991 300mm wafers developed
1995 MEMC initial public offering on the New York 

Stock Exchange

1998 MEMC develops agglomerated defect-free  
Perfect Silicon

1999 Advanced-generation 200mm DSP wafers developed
2000 MEMC introduces defect-free engineered products 

MDZTM and OptiaTM

2002 Significant 300mm expansion 
2003 Expanded New Materials R&D group, and 

introduced next-generation 300mm Perfect Silicon
2004	 Crossed	over	$1B	revenue	mark;	acquired	Taisil
2005  First 300mm production in Taiwan
2007		 Started	shipment	of	156mm	wafers;	MEMC	added	 

to S&P 500

Asia Pacific 
61%

Europe 
15%

United States 
24%

G L O B A L  M A N U F A C T U R I N G

• St. Peters, Missouri
• Sherman, Texas
• Pasadena, Texas
• Merano, Italy
• Novara, Italy

• Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
• Hsinchu, Taiwan
• Chonan, South Korea
• Utsunomiya, Japan

Manufacturing Facilities
• Hillsboro, Oregon
• St. Peters, Missouri
• Sherman, Texas
• Paris, France
• Munich, Germany
• Novara, Italy

• Singapore
• Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
• Shanghai, China
• Hsinchu, Taiwan
• Seoul, Korea
• Tokyo, Japan

Sales Offices

C O M P A N Y  B A C K G R O U N D



MEMC is a global leader in the manufacture and 
sale of wafers and related products to the semi-
conductor and solar industries. Wafers are literally 

the foundation upon which virtually all of the world’s semi-
conductors and solar cells are built. Those products, in turn, 
are the building blocks for the $1 trillion electronics market 

(cell phones, computers, PDAs, CD/DVD players, satellite 
and automotive electronics, etc.) and the $18 billion solar cell/
module market (rooftop, solar farms, consumer lighting, etc.). 
MEMC has been a pioneer in the design and development of 
wafer technologies since 1959, and operates facilities in the 
U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific.

W H O  W E  A R E  A N D  W H A T  W E  D O

Wafers become semiconductors...which become the electronics we use every day.

Wafers also become solar cells...which generate the clean power of today and tomorrow.

We make the wafers.
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MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. 
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon) 

P.O. Box 8 
St. Peters, Missouri 63376

(636) 474-5000 
www.memc.com


